
 
 

 
 

 
Gloucester Road    Tewkesbury   Glos   GL20 5TT   Member Services Tel: (01684) 272021   

Email: democraticservices@tewkesbury.gov.uk    Website: www.tewkesbury.gov.uk 

15 January 2024 
 

Committee Planning 

Date Tuesday, 23 January 2024 

Time of Meeting 9:30 am 

Venue Tewkesbury Borough Council Offices, 
Severn Room 

 

ALL MEMBERS OF THE COMMITTEE ARE REQUESTED 
TO ATTEND 

 

Agenda 

 

1.   ANNOUNCEMENTS  
   
 When the continuous alarm sounds you must evacuate the building by the 

nearest available fire exit. Members and visitors should proceed to the 
visitors’ car park at the front of the building and await further instructions 
(during office hours staff should proceed to their usual assembly point; 
outside of office hours proceed to the visitors’ car park). Please do not re-
enter the building unless instructed to do so.  
 
In the event of a fire any person with a disability should be assisted in 
leaving the building.    

 

   
2.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS  
   
 To receive apologies for absence and advise of any substitutions.   
   
3.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
   
 Pursuant to the adoption by the Council on 24 January 2023 of the 

Tewkesbury Borough Council Code of Conduct, effective from 1 February 
2023, as set out in Minute No. CL.72, Members are invited to declare any 
interest they may have in the business set out on the Agenda to which the 
approved Code applies. 

 

  
 

 

mailto:democraticservices@tewkesbury.gov.uk


 Item Page(s) 

 

 2 

4.   MINUTES 3 - 20 
   
 To approve the Minutes of the meeting held on 19 December 2023.  
   
5.   DEVELOPMENT CONTROL - APPLICATIONS TO THE BOROUGH 

COUNCIL 
 

   
(a) 22/00610/OUT - Part Parcel 2352, Mythe Road, Tewkesbury 21 - 62 

  
 PROPOSAL: Residential development (up to 165 dwellings), 

associated works including infrastructure, open space, landscaping 
and pumping station.  Construction of a new vehicular access from 
Mythe Road and demolition of existing structures. 
 
OFFICER RECOMMENDATION: Minded to refuse. 

 

   
6.   CURRENT APPEALS AND APPEAL DECISIONS UPDATE 63 - 64 
   
 To consider current planning and enforcement appeals and Department 

for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities appeal decisions. 
 

   
 

DATE OF NEXT MEETING 

TUESDAY, 20 FEBRUARY 2024 

COUNCILLORS CONSTITUTING COMMITTEE 

Councillors: M Dimond-Brown, M A Gore, S Hands (Vice-Chair), D J Harwood, M L Jordan,                            
G C Madle, J R Mason, G M Porter, P E Smith (Chair), R J G Smith, R J E Vines, P N Workman 
and I Yates  

  

 
Substitution Arrangements  
 
The Council has a substitution procedure and any substitutions will be announced at the 
beginning of the meeting. 
 
Recording of Meetings  
 
In accordance with the Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014, please be 
aware that the proceedings of this meeting may be recorded and this may include recording of 
persons seated in the public gallery or speaking at the meeting. Please notify the Democratic 
Services Officer if you have any objections to this practice and the Chair will take reasonable 
steps to ensure that any request not to be recorded is complied with.  
 
Any recording must take place in such a way as to ensure that the view of Councillors, Officers, 
the public and press is not obstructed. The use of flash photography and/or additional lighting 
will not be allowed unless this has been discussed and agreed in advance of the meeting.  



TEWKESBURY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 
Minutes of a Meeting of the Planning Committee held at the Council Offices, 
Gloucester Road, Tewkesbury on Tuesday, 19 December 2023 commencing                       

at 9:30 am 
 

 
Present: 

 
Chair Councillor P E Smith 
Vice Chair Councillor S Hands 

 
and Councillors: 

 
H J Bowman (Substitute for M Dimond-Brown), M A Gore, D J Harwood, G C Madle,                               

J R Mason, R J E Vines, P N Workman and I Yates 
 

also present: 
 

Councillor C L J Carter 
 

PL.47 ANNOUNCEMENTS  

47.1 The evacuation procedure, as noted on the Agenda, was advised to those present. 

47.2 The Chair gave a brief outline of the procedure for Planning Committee meetings, 
including public speaking. 

PL.48 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS  

48.1  Apologies for absence were received from Councillors M Dimond-Brown,                                  
M L Jordan, G M Porter and R J G Smith.  Councillor H J Bowman would be a 
substitute for the meeting.  

PL.49 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

49.1 The Committee’s attention was drawn to the Tewkesbury Borough Code of Conduct 
which was adopted by the Council on 24 January 2023 and took effect on 1 
February 2023.  

49.2 The following declarations were made: 

Councillor Application 
No./Agenda Item 

Nature of Interest 
(where disclosed) 

Declared 
Action in 
respect of 
Disclosure 

D J Harwood Item 5f – 
23/00850/FUL – 
Pear Tree Cottage, 
Tumper View, 
Brockworth. 

 
 

Is a Borough 
Councillor for the 
area. 

Would speak 
and vote. 

3

Agenda Item 4



PL.19.12.23 

R J E Vines Item 5e – 
23/00874/FUL – 
Part Parcel 8019, 
Chargrove Lane. 

Item 5f - 
23/00850/FUL – 
Pear Tree Cottage, 
Tumper View, 
Brockworth. 

Is a Gloucestershire 
County Councillor for 
the area. 

Would speak 
and vote. 

I Yates Item 5b – 
22/00777/OUT – 
Garages to the 
Rear of Properties 
68-74 Yew Tree 
Way, Churchdown. 

Is a Member of 
Churchdown Parish 
Council but does not 
participate in 
Planning matters. 

Would speak 
and vote. 

49.3 There were no further declarations made on this occasion. 

PL.50 MINUTES  

50.1  The Minutes of the meeting held on 21 November 2023, copies of which had been 
circulated, were approved as a correct record and signed by the Chair.  

PL.51 DEVELOPMENT CONTROL - APPLICATIONS TO THE BOROUGH COUNCIL  

51.1 The objections to, support for, and observations upon the various applications as 
referred to in Appendix 1 attached to these Minutes were presented to the 
Committee and duly taken into consideration by Members prior to decisions being 
made on those applications. 

 23/00661/FUL - Lunn Cottage, Aston Cross, Tewkesbury  

51.2  This application was for erection of 10 dwellings, garages, construction of internal 
estate road, formation of parking areas and gardens/amenity space. 

51.3 The Principal Planning Officer advised that this was a full application for a 
development of 10 dwellings at Aston Cross.  The site was located close to the A46 
and immediately adjacent to a similarly designed, and now developed, residential 
scheme and would take its access through this site; a benefit of the proposal was 
that it would remove the existing private domestic access from the A46.  The site 
was outside of the Tewkesbury Town area development boundary but close to it 
and consisted of the side and rear curtilage of Lunn Cottage which was partly laid to 
garden and partly open land including an orchard area adjacent to the Tirle Brook.  
The proposed layout consisted of two sets of semi-detached dwellings on the 
northern part of the site facing the main road and six link detached dwellings on the 
remainder which sat behind the previously developed Queen’s Head public house 
site.  Members may recall that the proposal was refused by Planning Committee 
earlier this year on the main ground of its location being outside the settlement 
boundary, and therefore in conflict with the housing policies set out in the 
Tewkesbury Borough Plan; it should be noted that the applicant had appealed that 
decision.  The current application had been submitted on the basis that the Local 
Planning Authority no longer could identify a five year housing land supply. The 
Council had agreed this position and, on that basis, taking into account that the site 
was located immediately adjacent to a residential development and in close 
proximity to the Tewkesbury Town area, there was no longer an in principle 

4



PL.19.12.23 

objection to the proposed development.  There were no clear refusal reasons 
arising from National Planning Policy Framework policies for the protection of areas, 
or assets of particular importance in this case, and matters of design, ecology, 
highways and drainage had been resolved subject to the conditions set out in the 
Committee report.  Therefore, subject to the satisfactory completion of a legal 
agreement to secure the affordable housing mix on-site and off-site community 
infrastructure as explained in the Committee report, the Officer recommendation 
was for a delegated permit. 

51.4 The Chair indicated that there were no public speakers for this item.  The Officer 
recommendation was to delegate authority to the Associate Director: Planning to 
permit the application, subject to the conditions set out in the report and satisfactory 
completion of a Section 106 Agreement to secure the affordable housing and 
community infrastructure with authority to amend the terms/wording of the 
conditions/Section 106 Agreement if appropriate to secure the necessary mitigation 
relevant to the development, and he sought a motion from the floor.  A Member 
raised concern based on the location of the flood zone that water could go up to the 
edge of the properties and, as she could not see an attenuation pond in the plans, 
she asked how run-off would be dealt with.  The Principal Planning Officer advised 
that the Lead Local Flood Authority had been consulted on the application and 
raised no objections based on the drainage strategy which had been submitted.  
There was attenuation within the driveway area which was not shown on the 
particular plan but was included within the drainage strategy.  Page No. 39, 
Paragraph 8.22 of the Committee report confirmed that use of the land at risk of 
flooding as public open space was considered to be acceptable by the Council’s 
Flood Risk Management Engineer.  As such, there was no drainage reason to 
refuse the application.  The Member expressed the view that residential amenity 
would be impacted and she continued to be concerned about the close proximity of 
the flood zone; her view was that properties should be moved away from the flood 
zone.  The Principal Planning Officer reiterated that the statutory consultees had 
raised no concerns being as this was garden land or public open space.  The 
Member went on to point out that at the other end of the site the houses were 
positioned directly onto the A46 which was a very busy road with a traffic lighted 
junction but she could find no comment from the Environmental Health Officer 
regarding noise.  One of the proposed conditions talked about acoustics and she 
asked if that was in relation to those particular properties or another matter.  She 
also questioned what mitigation would be put in place in relation to noise and 
residential amenity.  In response, the Principal Planning Officer advised that a noise 
assessment had been carried out and the Environmental Health Officer had 
recommended that the noise mitigation measures as detailed in the assessment 
were carried out as reflected in proposed condition 15.  She explained that the 
frontage of the dwellings had been designed so there was very little fenestration and 
with rear gardens on the opposite side.  Another Member raised concern about air 
pollution given the slow moving traffic which often queued along the A46 as far as 
the Teddington Hands roundabout and questioned whether an assessment had 
been undertaken.  The Principal Planning Officer advised that the Environmental 
Health Officer had not raised any concerns in relation to that issue and had not 
indicated that a noise assessment was necessary. 

51.5 With regard to Page No. 42, Paragraph 8.40 of the Committee report, a Member 
noted that the Council’s Housing Enabling Officer had stated a preference for social 
rent tenures for the four affordable homes and she asked how much weight that 
held.  The Principal Planning Officer advised that she had spoken to the applicant’s 
agent who confirmed the applicant was amenable to three social rent and one 
shared ownership unit as requested by the Housing Enabling Officer.  A Member 
drew attention to Page No. 33, Paragraph 1.7 of the Committee report which stated 
that a planning obligation would be required to secure the affordable dwellings and 
asked whether that had been secured.  In response, the Principal Planning Officer 

5



PL.19.12.23 

clarified that the Officer recommendation was for a delegated permit subject to a 
Section 106 Agreement to secure the affordable housing.  The Legal Adviser 
confirmed that the Section 106 was currently in progress.  A Member noted that this 
proposal had previously been refused by the Planning Committee and asked if there 
were any differences between the two applications.  In response, the Principal 
Planning Officer confirmed that the layout was exactly the same but there were 
some small changes in terms of materials.   

51.6 A Member indicated that it did not appear that the Environmental Health Officer had 
been consulted specifically in relation to the potential air pollution issue and sought 
confirmation it had been looked at.  In response, the Principal Planning Officer 
indicated that, if the Environmental Health Officer had been concerned about air 
pollution in that location they would have brought this to the attention of Planning 
Officers in their response which they had not done on this occasion.  Another 
Member reiterated that the A46 was one of the busiest roads in the borough, not 
only at rush hour, due to the series of traffic lights along the road and he was 
surprised no air quality check had been undertaken.  As such, he asked if it was 
possible for the Committee to request that an air quality survey be carried out.  The 
Development Management Team Manager (East) reminded Members there was an 
open appeal relating to this site which was due for determination imminently and the 
Council was required to deliver a response to the Planning Inspector which would 
include where it stood in relation to this application.  There was an expectation that 
a suite of issues would be covered in the Council’s consultation response including 
air quality, noise and residential amenity issues.  He would be reluctant to defer the 
application on that basis and given that the statutory consultee had raised no further 
objection on that point.  In response to a Member query regarding timescales for the 
appeal, the Principal Planning Officer advised that the Council’s statement needed 
to be submitted in January and a decision on the appeal was anticipated in March 
albeit that was not within the Council’s remit.   

51.7 A Member noted that this application was being considered in a completely different 
set of circumstances to the earlier application which was now the subject of an 
appeal as the Council was no longer able to demonstrate a five year housing land 
supply.  Whilst she recognised there was a development at the bottom of the site, 
none of those properties aside from the flats faced onto the A46 yet new residents 
were already complaining about noise from the A46.  The Development 
Management Team Manager (East) explained that the application which had been 
refused by the Committee was identical to this in terms of design and layout so 
those issues would have been looked at by Members previously and had not been 
identified as reasons for refusal at that time.   

51.8 It was proposed that the application be deferred in order to undertake an air quality 
assessment.  The proposer of the motion indicated that he had no issue with the 
principle of residential development on the site but was unhappy with the proximity 
of the dwellings to the junction and the potential impact on residential amenity in 
terms of air pollution.  The Development Management Manager (South) stressed 
that there was an appeal in relation to the site and no concerns had been raised 
regarding air quality in determining that application; if the Council was to amend its 
position it could be seen as creating additional reasons for refusal.  He suggested 
delegating authority to the Associate Director: Planning to permit the application 
subject to the Environmental Health Officer not raising any concerns in respect of air 
quality and pointed out that it was possible that any issues could be resolved by 
ventilation and other technical means which could be secured by condition.  The 
proposer of the motion indicated that he would like to see up-to-date data on air 
quality based on the proposed layout.  The Development Management Manager 
(East) advised that the layout had been designed with the front of the development 
in mind and he was not sure what could be done to improve the situation for the 
properties fronting onto the A46 without a complete redesign; he reiterated that 
mitigation may be by internal measures as opposed to the design or layout of the 

6



PL.19.12.23 

site.  A Member clarified that, having looked at the previous application, it appeared 
that the Environmental Health Officer had been consulted on air quality and raised 
no concerns – she felt it would have been helpful for that information to have been 
included within the current Committee report.  Notwithstanding this, she was unable 
to support the application.  Another Member expressed the view that mechanical 
ventilation would be better than moving the properties away from the road and she 
asked if that could be made a condition.  The Development Management Manager 
(South) advised that as there was no identified harm or issues in respect of air 
quality it would be unreasonable to include a requirement for mechanical ventilation. 

51.9 A Member indicated that she would be happy to support a delegated permit subject 
to an up-to-date assessment of air quality by the Environmental Health Officer and 
the Development Management Manager (South) clarified that an assessment had 
been undertaken as part of the previous application.  As such, he suggested a 
delegated permit subject to the Environmental Health Officer having no further 
concerns; should there be any concerns they would be dealt with in the appropriate 
manner but his advice was that it would be unreasonable to require an air quality 
survey at this stage.  A Member found it hard to believe there was no issue with air 
quality given that this part of the A46 essentially became a car park with Heavy 
Goods Vehicles (HGVs) engines ticking over for the majority of the time.  He 
understood it was necessary to accept the views of the statutory consultees but he 
questioned whether anyone had actually been to the site to assess it.  With regard 
to the flood zone issue, he asked whether this included the percentage allowance 
for climate change and was advised that it was the Environment Agency’s identified 
flood zone which took into account climate change for 1 in 100 year floods.  

51.10 The proposer of the motion to defer the application indicated that, given that it had 
been identified that the Environmental Health Officer had no concerns regarding air 
pollution in relation to the previous application, a developer was likely to use that 
argument at an appeal and he did not want to be responsible for costing the 
Council, and the taxpayer, money and withdrew his motion on that basis.  It was 
subsequently proposed and seconded that authority be delegated to the Associate 
Director: Planning to permit the application subject to the conditions set out in the 
report, satisfactory completion of a Section 106 Agreement to secure the affordable 
housing and community infrastructure with authority to amend the terms/wording of 
the conditions/Section 106 Agreement if appropriate to secure the necessary 
mitigation relevant to the development, and confirmation from the Environmental 
Health Officer there were no concerns regarding air quality.  A Member indicated 
that she wished to put on record that, as a Ward Councillor for the area, she had 
major concerns in relation to properties 8, 9 and 10 regarding fumes and noise 
pollution from the A46.  Upon being put to the vote, it was 

RESOLVED That authority be DELEGATED to the Associate Director: 
Planning to PERMIT the application subject to the conditions set 
out in the report, satisfactory completion of a Section 106 
Agreement to secure the affordable housing and community 
infrastructure with authority to amend the terms/wording of the 
conditions/Section 106 Agreement if appropriate to secure the 
necessary mitigation relevant to the development, and 
confirmation from the Environmental Health Officer there were no 
concerns regarding air quality.   

 22/00777/OUT - Garages to the Rear of Properties 68-74 Yew Tree Way, 
Churchdown  

51.11  This was an outline application for demolition of 10 existing garages and erection of 
three residential dwellings including details of access with all other matters (layout, 
scale, appearance and landscaping) to be reserved for future consideration. 

7



PL.19.12.23 

51.12  The Development Management Manager (South) advised that the application site 
related to a parcel of land which comprised ten ‘lock-up’ garages and hardstanding 
to the rear of properties at Yew Tree Way and Hawthorn Drive in Churchdown.  The 
application sought outline planning permission for three dwellings with all matters 
reserved except access. The indicative site layout plan submitted in support of the 
application showed how the site could be laid out with a terrace of three properties 
facing to the south-west, providing private gardens to the rear and a hard surface 
area to the front with two parking spaces for each property.  The application site 
was within the built-up area of Churchdown and comprised previously developed 
land.  The principle of development in this location was in accordance with relevant 
policies and considered acceptable.  Concerns had been raised in respect of loss of 
parking, displacement of vehicles, loss of access to gardens and impact on amenity.  
It was noted that the application had been supported by a parking survey which 
demonstrated sufficient on-street spaces available to accommodate any displaced 
parking and the illustrative layout showed that sufficient separation from existing 
dwellings could be achieved so as not to impact living conditions of these occupiers.  
In terms of rights of access to the rear of existing properties, this was ultimately a 
civil matter; however, the applicant had demonstrated on the submitted plans that a 
pedestrian access could be accommodated within the site as part of this 
development to serve the adjacent houses.  The proposal was therefore considered 
to be acceptable and it was recommended that the application be permitted subject 
to the conditions set out in the Committee report.  

51.13 The Chair indicated that there were no public speakers for this item.  The Officer 
recommendation was to permit the application and he sought a motion from the 
floor.  In response to a Member query regarding parking, the Development 
Management Team Manager (South) advised that the garage and parking court 
were in private ownership; whilst residents of Yew Tree Way parked there currently, 
use of the area could be restricted at any time by the landowner and there was no 
legal right for them to park there.  A Member asked whether the parking area and 
garage were part of the original proposal when it was built and the Development 
Management Team Manager (South) confirmed that it would have been part of the 
development at the time.  It was proposed and seconded that the application be 
permitted in accordance with the Officer recommendation.  A Member expressed 
the view that the level of parking around Yew Tree Way was concerning with 
parallel parking on the main trunk road; although it was a wide road, there was an 
unwritten rule that cars would park next to one another forming two rows all along 
the bend turning into the road.  Whilst she did not feel the application could be 
refused on that basis, she considered it would lead to more traffic issues.   

51.14 Upon being put to the vote, it was 

RESOLVED That the application be PERMITTED in accordance with the 
Officer recommendation. 

 22/00857/PIP - Land to the Rear Cleeve Road, Gretton Road, Gotherington  

51.15  This was a permission in principle application for the erection of between one and 
six dwellings.  

51.16  The Planning Officer advised that the site was located just outside of the defined 
housing development boundary, within a Special Landscape Area and a gap of local 
importance.  As explained within the Committee report, the Council could not 
demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing land and therefore the most 
important policies for determining the application were deemed out of date.  On that 
basis, the decision must be determined in accordance with paragraph 11(d) of the 
National Planning Policy Framework.  There would be some harm arising from the 
development through conflict with development plan policies and the spatial strategy 
relating to housing and landscape harm; however, the site was considered to be 

8



PL.19.12.23 

broadly sustainable and there would also be economic and social benefits as a 
result of the development.  It was considered that the identified harms would not 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, as such, the Officer 
recommendation was to permit the application. 

51.17 The Chair indicated that there were no public speakers for this item.  The Officer 
recommendation was to permit the application and he sought a motion from the 
floor.  A Member sought clarification as to the scope of a permission in principle 
application and was reminded it was limited to location, land use and amount.  In 
response to a query as to whether the existing barns would be taken down, the 
Planning Officer advised as far as she was aware the corrugated metal structure 
would be removed as part of the development.  A Member noted that this 
application required a Committee determination due to an objection from the Parish 
Council on the grounds of the dwellings being too tall compared to existing 
properties and not being in keeping with the character and appearance of the street; 
however, his understanding was that these matters could not be considered at this 
stage of the process.  In response, the Development Management Team Manager 
(East) advised that these were not the exact comments made by the Parish Council 
in their entirety.  As detailed in the Committee report, the application had originally 
been for a greater number of units and this had been reduced through negotiation 
following which the Parish Council had been reconsulted.  It was possible to 
consider some elements of landscaping as part of the layout which was why it had 
been deemed appropriate to bring the application to Committee for determination.  
A Member noted that the site was allocated as a gap of local importance within the 
Tewkesbury Borough Local Plan; she was concerned that applications such as this 
were eating away at the gap between Gotherington and Bishops Cleeve and asked 
if that was a reasonable consideration in relation to this permission in principle 
application.  The Development Management Team Manager (East) confirmed that 
the policy formed part of the development plan and had been taken into 
consideration in the planning judgement in relation to this application; in this 
instance, it was considered that the harm was outweighed by the benefits of 
bringing housing forward.   

51.18 It was proposed and seconded that the application be permitted in accordance with 
the Officer recommendation.  The proposer of the motion recognised that the 
argument in respect of the strategic gap could not be relied on in terms of a reason 
for refusal but felt there were discussions to be had at the technical matters stage 
regarding design and layout given the need to be sensitive to the site and she asked 
that subsequent applications be brought to the Committee for determination.  Upon 
being put to the vote, it was 

RESOLVED That the application be PERMITTED in accordance with the 
Officer recommendation. 

 23/00280/FUL - Bushcombe House Farm, Bushcombe Lane, Woodmancote  

51.19  This application was for demolition of three existing barns and construction of three 
new buildings for use as holiday lets and conversion of an existing barn into a 
holiday let.  

51.20  The Senior Planning Officer advised that this application related to Bushcombe 
House Farm; the land within the applicant’s ownership was extensive including two 
operational holiday let businesses within its bounds: Bushcombe House Farm and 
Bushcombe House Lodge.  The application had been brought to the Planning 
Committee for determination due to concerns raised by the Parish Council relating 
to principle, highways matters, impact on the Cotswold National Landscape and 
drainage.  In terms of principle, this was the expansion of an existing rural business 
through the appropriate conversion of an existing stone building and the erection of 
three well-designed new buildings in the place of structures which were in poor 

9



PL.19.12.23 

condition and of no architectural merit.  Although it was beyond the settlement 
boundary, the location was considered to be sustainable for the purposes of tourism 
policy which was supported by the County Highways Officer.  As such, the principle 
of development was acceptable.  Turning to the remaining highway matters, the 
existing safe and suitable access was sufficient to serve the site and the parking 
would be accessible and proportionate, with capacity to accommodate the 
anticipated trip generation without resulting in highway safety issues. The County 
Highways Officer had visited the site and raised no objections.  In terms of the 
impact on the National Landscape, the policy test required the development to 
conserve its scenic beauty and special qualities and it was considered that the 
development would achieve that. Planning conditions had been included to limit the 
impact of the development upon the surrounding landscape including restriction of 
materials, finished floor levels, external lighting, the removal of permitted 
development rights and the submission of a full landscaping scheme including 
boundary treatments.  The comments made by a local Ward Councillor in his role as 
Flood Warden, as set out in the Additional Representations Sheet, attached at 
Appendix 1, were noted but did not change the recommendation. Officers wished to 
emphasise that the site was located within flood zone 1, as defined by the 
Environment Agency, indicating the lowest probability of risk for surface water 
flooding.  A drainage condition had been suggested requiring the developer to 
submit detailed drainage information prior to the commencement of any 
development which the developer had agreed to. The Council’s Flood Risk 
Management Engineer had reviewed the proposals along with the condition and 
was satisfied the development would result in an acceptable impact on drainage 
and flooding subject to that condition.  Given that the application was in accordance 
with all relevant policies and comprised sustainable development, the Officer 
recommendation was to permit. 

51.21 The Chair invited the applicant’s agent to address the Committee.  The applicant’s 
agent advised that the National Planning Policy Framework, the Joint Core Strategy 
and Tewkesbury Borough Plan all contain policies that were heavily weighted 
towards supporting a vibrant rural economy and a strong rural tourism sector.  In 
particular, the National Planning Policy Framework talked of support for the 
expansion of all types of business in rural areas both through the conversion of 
existing buildings and well-designed new buildings; this included new tourist 
accommodation, echoed in Policy TOR2 of the Tewkesbury Borough Plan and the 
Council’s Economic Development and Tourism Strategy which supported proposals 
for serviced or self-catering accommodation where it involved either the re-use of 
buildings or the expansion of existing tourist accommodation sites.  As set out by 
Officers, this proposal fitted squarely with those policies.  Bushcombe House Farm 
was already a very successful holiday let which was registered with the English 
Tourist Board.  In 2019, Tewkesbury Borough Council granted permission for a new 
build holiday cabin on the opposite side of Bushcombe Lane, in association with the 
tourist accommodation offering at Bushcombe House Farm which had proven to be 
successful.  The current proposal would extend the tourism offering of the site which 
was supported by policy.  The current proposal sought to convert, and in some 
cases replace, existing disused buildings and outbuildings in the grounds of 
Bushcombe House Farm for further tourist accommodation.  The buildings to be 
replaced were those of low architectural and structural merit with new buildings that 
would be set around a traditional farmyard complex layout with the design also 
mimicking a traditional range of barns.  The opportunity to re-use and, where 
necessary, replace existing redundant and uncharacteristic buildings with higher 
quality design and appearance represented a substantial improvement to the 
character of the National Landscape. The enhancement to the Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty provided a significant sustainability benefit.  All professional 
statutory consultees supported the application and there were no objections from 
County Highways, the Conservation Officer, Lead Local Flood Authority, 
Environmental Health or Ecology.  In particular, County Highways acknowledged 

10



PL.19.12.23 

that uses such as this were very low vehicle generating and had negligible impact 
on the local highway network.  The applicant’s agent recognised Woodmancote 
Parish Council had objected to this application; however, he suggested that Parish 
Councils ought to be supporting of rural tourism, particularly those with a duty of 
ensuring that the Cotswolds remained a strong tourist designation. Indeed, the 
Cotswold National Landscape Management Plan, a document that the Parish 
Council often referenced, stated that the natural beauty of the Cotswolds National 
Landscape was the foundation on which the tourism industry in the Cotswolds was 
based. Happily, nothing raised by the Parish Council caused substantive planning 
concerns, as confirmed by Officers.  The applicant’s agent hoped Members would 
feel able to lend their support to this proposal which would only improve the choice 
and availability of tourist accommodation in one of the country’s most sought after 
tourist spots.    

51.22 The Chair indicated that the Officer recommendation was to permit the application 
and he sought a motion from the floor.  A Member sought confirmation that electric 
vehicle charging points would be provided given there would be high reliance on car 
use and the Senior Planning Officer confirmed that was required by building control 
legislation therefore a planning condition was unnecessary.  A Member asked what 
the difference was between a residential property and a holiday let and whether 
there was a restriction on use.  In response, the Senior Planning Officer explained 
they were both Class C3 use and the holiday let restriction was via planning 
condition.  In this case, it was proposed that conditions 14 and 15 be imposed in 
order to restrict use to a holiday let and for the owners/operators of the holiday lets 
to maintain an up-to-date register of the names of all owners/occupiers of the 
accommodation in order to evidence use as a holiday let.  Another Member drew 
attention to Page No. 96, Paragraph 8.22 of the Committee report which stated that 
the existing development equated to 188 square metres with the proposed 
development equating to a total of 263 square metres and, being mindful of the 
concerns raised by a local Ward Member in relation to flooding, she asked whether 
it was intended to improve the drainage.  The Senior Planning Officer confirmed 
there would be an increase in the overall footprint but there was currently no formal 
drainage whatsoever on the site, therefore, there would be a betterment as a result 
of the development.  The Member asked whether permeable surfaces were 
proposed and was advised that a landscaping condition was suggested in addition 
to a drainage condition requiring submission of a landscape strategy which would 
show which areas would be hardscape and softscape and that could be negotiated 
as part of that condition.  In response to a query as to whether the amount of non-
permeable surface would be reduced, the Senior Planning Officer indicated that was 
potentially the case but full details were not available at this stage; there would need 
to be some hardscaping but there was scope if Members felt that should be 
reduced.  She pointed out that the nature of the development meant it was in the 
applicant’s interest to make the site look appealing and hardscaping would not 
necessarily achieve that.  A Member asked why the applicant had not submitted a 
drainage plan given the concern in that regard and was advised that this was not 
required given the site’s location in flood zone one; however, the Flood Risk 
Management Engineer had been consulted on the application and had indicated the 
proposals were generally acceptable subject to the submission of a detailed 
drainage design which could be secured via planning condition. 

51.23 It was proposed and seconded that the application be permitted in accordance with 
the Officer recommendation and, upon being put to the vote, it was 

RESOLVED That the application be PERMITTED in accordance with the 
Officer recommendation. 

 

11



PL.19.12.23 

 23/00874/FUL - Part Parcel 8019, Chargrove Lane  

51.24  This application was for agricultural access onto Chargrove Lane – revision to 
application ref: 22/01375/FUL.  The Planning Committee had visited the application 
site in relation to the previous application in June 2023. 

51.25  The Senior Planning Officer drew attention to the Additional Representations Sheet, 
attached at Appendix 1, which referenced representations from a member of the 
public, the local Ward Councillor for the area and the applicant’s agent - the latter 
pointed out an error in the report in that the applicant accepted the visibility splay 
would be 60 metres in total but there was not currently 60 metres of hedge within 
the visibility splay due to extensive gaps, as such, reinstatement, albeit in a different 
position, would result in a net gain of hedgerow.  Furthermore, the Additional 
Representations Sheet set out that an additional condition had been proposed by 
County Highways which would be added to the decision notice should Members be 
minded to permit the application.  The Senior Planning Officer indicated that 
Members would recall a previous version of this scheme was refused by the 
Planning Committee in June of this year.  That application included a more 
substantial access suitable for articulated cattle trucks and a hard surfaced turning 
circle inside the field.  The turning circle was no longer proposed and the access 
was to be used by tractor and trailer only, hence a smaller and less conspicuous 
field opening.  That said, there remained significant opposition, largely due to the 
creation of a 60 metre visibility; Chargrove Lane was also a popular walking route in 
an attractive landscape setting.  Officers acknowledged the recommendation to 
permit the application was perhaps finely balanced, though adequate mitigation in 
favour included realignment of the hedge and more targeted strengthening of the 
existing hedge outside of the visibility splay.  Furthermore, the historic estate railings 
on the edge of Chargrove Lane were to be retained.  Overall, Officers considered 
landscape harm was adequately reduced and mitigation was appropriate, to the 
extent that principal reasons for refusal of the last scheme had been overcome.  

51.26 The Chair invited the applicant’s agent to address the Committee.  The applicant’s 
agent indicated that Members may recall the previous application for an access in 
this location as confirmed by the Senior Planning Officer and advised that the 
previous access design was to provide entry and egress for an articulated cattle 
truck to allow the farmer entrance to the field for loading and off-loading; that 
application was refused due principally to landscape concerns.  The application 
before Members was a revised scheme for a new agricultural access reduced and 
scaled back for tractor and trailer access only.  As before, this would allow for safe 
entry and egress on to the lane by farm vehicles and machinery.  The location of the 
access had been chosen for functional and safety reasons. The vehicles and 
machinery using the access would be for grass cutting in summer months, off-
loading of cattle feed, animals, and transportation of portable cattle handling pens. 
As such, there was a very real need for this access.  The revised design proposed 
landscape mitigation, including additional tree/copse planting to the south and north, 
and hedgerow reinstatement along the field boundaries. The hedgerow planting 
would add to the existing using diverse native species and he reiterated this would 
result in a net gain as confirmed by Officers.  Natural crushed stone would be used 
for the access area, sourced from local quarries to reflect the muted tones and 
palette of the local landscape character.  This access would be no different to any 
other agricultural access, being consistent with others present within the 
countryside.  As such, the applicant’s agent disagreed with objectors when stating it 
would be visually harmful.   It was noted that no objections had been raised by the 
Council’s Ecology Officer or County Highways.  In summary, this was simply an 
application for an agricultural access into an agricultural field and Officers correctly 
acknowledged that it was not inappropriate development within the Green Belt; the 

 

12



PL.19.12.23 

  positive recommendation and detailed assessment in the Committee report was 
welcomed and he urged Members to permit the application and support a local 
farmer and his business. 

51.27 The Chair indicated that the Officer recommendation was to permit the application 
and he sought a motion from the floor.  It was proposed and seconded that the 
application be permitted in accordance with the Officer recommendation.  The 
proposer of the motion expressed the view that it was important to support the 
effective operation of an agricultural business in the area.  In response to a Member 
query, the Senior Planning Officer advised there was an existing access; however, it 
tended to be blocked by cars on the other side of the road.  In response to a further 
query regarding tree planting, Members were informed that the landscaping plan 
suggested there was one Oak tree and several Maple trees.   

51.28 Upon being put to the vote, it was 

RESOLVED That the applicant be PERMITTED in accordance with the Officer 
recommendation. 

 23/00850/FUL - Pear Tree Cottage, Tumper View, Brockworth  

51.29  This application was for incorporation of buffer land into residential garden of Pear 
Tree Cottage, Tumper View, Brockworth (retrospective application). 

51.30  The Planning Assistant advised that the application required a Committee 
determination due to an objection from Brockworth Parish Council based on harm to 
the Cotswold National Landscape.  The site was a triangular piece of land, located 
south of the existing garden of Pear Tree Cottage and north of Green Street which 
passed the southern boundary of the site, with the Cotswold National Landscape 
falling south of Green Steet. The land would be used as garden space for Pear Tree 
Cottage, resulting in no harm to neighbouring residential amenity and no adverse 
impact to the highway network. The site itself was of very limited landscape value, 
being surrounded by, and therefore well related to, existing residential development, 
preventing any unacceptable encroachment into the wider landscape with views 
being dominated by the backdrop of the Brockworth settlement when viewed from 
Coopers Hill.  As the proposal would be an appropriate use, respecting the form, 
character and setting of the settlement and with no adverse impacts upon 
residential amenity or highway safety, the Officer recommendation was to permit the 
application. 

51.31 The Chair invited a local Ward Councillor for the area to address the Committee.  
The local Ward Councillor indicated that the land was directly adjacent to the Green 
Belt and Cotswold National Landscape and was previously part of two fields that 
were also designated but had been removed with the new line moved towards 
Watermead Lane.  A buffer strip had been created as a mitigation between high 
density housing and beautiful countryside as part of an application for a 
development of 80 dwellings to ensure there was appropriate green infrastructure 
due to future loss of green space brought about by the development.  Other green 
space, including two strips of land behind houses The Lodge and Castle Park down 
to Kennel Lane, approximately 20 metres by 100 metres, had also been taken into 
account as part of local green infrastructure when permission was given for the 
development.  That green infrastructure had also been subject to a planning 
application for an additional 13 or so houses, as such, a great proportion of that had 
also been lost.  Although he could see no reference to it in the Additional 
Representations Sheet, attached at Appendix 1, he believed that loss of green 
space was relevant to this application in terms of the protection given by the buffer.  
Housing density directly next to this site had not changed since planning permission 
was granted for development and designation of this small field as a buffer zone -  
Hillsdown Cottage, Watermead House, Pear Tree Cottage and Arlingham Cottage, 

13



PL.19.12.23 

and surrounding houses, were still as per the plan with their associated gardens, as 
such, he questioned why there was now a change in view regarding the importance 
and designation of this land.  Changing the site’s designation set a precedent and 
he asked what would be stopping him from buying buffer zone land from 
developers, cutting down trees and seeking change of use for 10 or more houses 
some years later.  The Council had declared a climate emergency and buffer zones 
were one of the tools to encourage green infrastructure, therefore, he felt Members 
should be supportive of retaining that land as a buffer zone. 

51.32 The Chair indicated that the Officer recommendation was to permit the application 
and he sought a motion from the floor.  A Member asked whether the owners of 
Pear Tree Cottage also owned this land and the Planning Assistant advised that the 
application form stated they were the only interested party which indicated they 
were the landowners.  A Member queried whether it would be possible to remove 
permitted development rights due to the sensitivity of the land closest to the Green 
Belt and Cotswold National Landscape, should Members be minded to permit the 
application, and the Development Management Team Manager (East) confirmed 
that a condition could be included as Members saw fit but reminded them they were 
looking at a change of use in its entirety to residential use and what would come 
with that so it would be necessary to state specifically what would be restricted.  The 
Member indicated that she would wish to restrict large structures such as home 
offices on that piece of land. 

51.33 A Member indicated that she was concerned about visual impact of the proposal 
which she felt would be considerable and asked if this had been considered.  The 
land had been allocated as a buffer zone and allowing this application would set a 
precedent which meant it would be impossible to say no to other applications which 
may come forward.  Another Member asked if buffer zones had any legal protection 
and the Development Management Team Manager (East) advised that the buffer 
zone was included on the edge of the housing estate in 2008 and formed part of a 
condition only, it was not designated in the Tewkesbury Borough Plan and was 
different to a locally important space.  The Legal Adviser confirmed that it was part 
of the landscaping scheme for that housing estate and was not legally designated in 
the same way as Green Belt or Cotswold National Landscape so it did not have that 
legal status and was not protected into the future – anyone could submit an 
application on that land at any point and it would be down to whether the 
Committee, or relevant Officers, felt it was appropriate when assessed against 
policy at that particular time.  The Member asked whether the Council had any 
specific policies regarding buffer zones and the Development Management Team 
Manager (East) clarified that, whilst there were policies in relation to important gaps, 
Green Belt and important open spaces, there was no policy in relation to buffer 
zones specifically.   

51.34 A Member sought clarification as to the percentage of ‘greening’ for the housing 
estate given there had previously been ancient hedgerow and Perry Pear Trees but 
nothing remained and allowing this application would take away the only buffer 
zone.  The Development Management Team Manager (East) advised that it was 
difficult for Officers to give a percentage but the landscape plan associated with the 
development would direct where green space was located.  The Member asked how 
others would be prevented from doing the same, should this application be 
permitted, and the Development Management Team Manager (East) explained that 
when the housing development to the north of the site was approved it had not 
included this section as there was a gap between the two; the original application 
was for 80 houses but subsequent dwellings had been approved therefore the 
context of the site had changed from the initial consent.  A Member questioned 
whether the fencing had been up since 2014, assuming it had been used as a 
garden since that time, as she agreed this hardened the edge of the lane which had 
greenery on the other side.  The Development Management Team Manager (East) 
confirmed the fence had been erected for over four years, albeit there was no 

14



PL.19.12.23 

planning history.  In response to a query as to whether the land was being used by 
the public or whether it was enclosed when the site was developed, Members were 
informed that the land had not been used by the public whilst in the current 
ownership but Officers did not have information prior to that.  A Member noted that, 
if the land had been included within the residential boundary from the outset it would 
not have become wild and overgrown as it was now and he asked whether the 
applicant’s name was on the land registry.  The Legal Adviser explained that, in 
order to complete certificate A of the application form, the applicant must be the 
legal owner of the land; when it was informal open space such as this, where land 
was not transferred to the local authority or to a management company, some 
developers transferred plots to housing units and imposed restrictions on how it 
could be used in order to ensure there were no plots without ownership.  The 
Development Management Team Manager (East) displayed the landscaping plan 
for the application and pointed out that the current site was marked as “existing tree, 
shrub and scrub area”.  A Member indicated that, if that was the case, she would 
want to protect the edge against the lane with more wild planting.  In her view it 
needed to stay as a buffer zone – it had already been eaten into by the house next 
to it and, given the climate change emergency, she felt all plots of wild planting 
should be saved.  A Member questioned whether scrub land could be a buffer zone 
and was advised that there were still parts of the buffer zone on the landscaping 
plan but this particular site was scrub land.  Another Member queried whether it was 
possible to include a condition that the existing fencing had to be open so there was 
no harsh edge and was advised that fencing did not form part of the planning 
application which was for change of use of the site.  It was within Members’ gift to 
add conditions but they should bear in mind the test of reasonableness; the fence 
may well have consent due to the passing of time and it would be difficult to remove 
what was there already by way of condition.  If the application was refused, a 
Member asked whether the land would remain as it was i.e. an enclosed piece of 
land with the fence still in place and the Development Management Team Manager 
(East) confirmed that would be the case.  The Member questioned if the applicant 
could be asked to replant it as wild planting as they had removed it without 
permission, resulting in no conservation for the rest of the area, and the 
Development Management Team Manager (South) reiterated that the buffer zone 
was not a statutory designation and there was no condition requiring it to be 
retained as would be the case with a landscaping condition which may reference a 
period of five years after the implementation of the planning permission – in any 
case, five years had passed since the development was commenced so the trees 
could be removed without any recourse and it would be unreasonable to require the 
land to be reinstated.   

51.35 It was proposed and seconded that the application be deferred for a Planning 
Committee Site Visit in order to assess the status of the land as a buffer zone and 
the impact on the Cotswold National Landscape, residential amenity and the view 
from the lane.  The seconder of the motion indicated that a site visit had been 
requested prior to the Committee but had been refused by Officers.  A Member 
asked on what grounds this had been refused and was informed that the process 
had not been followed correctly in terms of the request with no material planning 
reason for the visit provided until after the deadline.  A Member expressed the view 
that, given the Officer’s explanation regarding the buffer zone, it appeared there 
were no grounds for refusing the application and she questioned what the point was 
of calling something a buffer zone if it was potentially only in place for five years or 
less.  The Development Management Team Manager (East) advised there would 
generally be a landscape impact reason for implementing a buffer zone.  In terms of 
setting a precedent, this was not a material planning consideration and each case 
would be considered on its own merits – it may be there would be a different impact 
if other parts of the buffer zone were removed.  In this instance, the original 
condition attached to the planning permission did not require the buffer zone to 
remain in perpetuity for the lifetime of the development and the site was within the 

15



PL.19.12.23 

residential development boundary.  The fencing could be looked into and, assuming 
there were enforcement cases open, Members could be updated as to progress.  A 
Member agreed these were two separate issues and, provided there was a 
condition included on the planning permission to prevent the garden being 
developed, she could not support a deferral for a site visit as it was not possible to 
change what was there now.  Upon being put to the vote, the motion was lost. 

51.36 It was proposed and seconded that the application be refused in order to protect the 
buffer zone.  The seconder of the motion indicated that Brockworth had taken a 
substantial amount of development and the buffer zone had been included to soften 
the edges and should be protected.  A Member questioned what impact a refusal 
would have in terms of improving the current situation and the Development 
Management Team Manager (South) confirmed it would effectively be the status 
quo - the land would eventually become overgrown but the fence would remain.  In 
response to a query, the Legal Adviser explained that enforcement action would be 
the most likely option regarding the fence but that would not stop residential use of 
the land and it would become lawful if it had been in use for 10 years; in this 
instance, the fence was considered to have been in place for nine years.  A Member 
queried where the nine year figure had come from given that the images on Google 
maps showed the area being wild and overgrown.  The Planning Assistant indicated 
the applicant’s submission stated that the land had been used without planning 
consent as a garden since 2014 and no application had been made for a Certificate 
of Lawful Existing Use.  The Enforcement team had prompted the application to be 
submitted.  The most recent images were from 2012 and it was possible the fence 
had been erected at some point since that time, most likely in 2014 when it had 
been used as a garden.  A Member questioned whether an application for 
residential development on that land would have been more favourable if the land 
was garden as opposed to scrub land and was advised that, although there would 
possibly be some support in terms of principle, land use was not particularly 
important as a decision would be based on a judgement of the landscaping impact 
of any new dwelling on a piece of land.  The Legal Adviser reminded Members this 
was not relevant to the determination of the application today. 

51.37 A Member expressed the view that the soft edge had already been lost with the 
erection of fencing which could not be rectified through refusal of this application.  
Upon being put to the vote, the motion to refuse the application was lost.  It was 
subsequently proposed that the application be permitted in accordance with the 
Officer recommendation, subject to inclusion of a condition to remove the permitted 
development rights under Class E Schedule 2 Part 1.  A Member felt that lessons 
needed to be learnt from this in terms of notifying the Enforcement team 
immediately of any unauthorised development, such as the erection of fencing.  The 
Development Management Team Manager (East) confirmed the team was currently 
wholly reliant on people reporting unauthorised development.  It should be borne in 
mind that there were permitted development rights for fencing so not everyone 
would require planning permission to erect them; however, this one was adjacent to 
a highway and therefore did require permission. 

51.38 Upon being put to the vote, it was 

RESOLVED That the application be PERMITTED subject to the inclusion of a 
condition to remove the permitted development rights under 
Class E Schedule 2 Part 1. 

 

 

 

 

16



PL.19.12.23 

PL.52 CURRENT APPEALS AND APPEAL DECISIONS UPDATE  

52.1 Attention was drawn to the current appeals and appeal decisions update, circulated 
at Pages No. 134-136.  Members were asked to consider the current planning and 
enforcement appeals received and the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and 
Communities appeal decisions issued. 

52.2  A Member noted that the appeal in relation to 9B Beckford Road, Alderton had been 
dismissed by the Planning Inspector who had agreed with the Planning Committee’s 
decision to refuse the application.  The Development Management Team Manager 
(East) pointed out that, although it had been dismissed, the Inspector had raised the 
point there was not enough clarity in the refusal reason put forward by Members so 
whilst it was a positive result there were lessons to be learnt. 

52.3  It was 

RESOLVED That the current appeals and appeal decisions update be 
NOTED. 

 The meeting closed at 12:20 pm 

 

17



PL.19.12.23 

Appendix 1 
 
 
ADDITIONAL REPRESENTATIONS SHEET 
 

Date: 19 December 2023 
 
The following is a list of the additional representations received since the Planning Committee 
Agenda was published and includes background papers received up to and including the 
Monday before the meeting. 
A general indication of the content is given but it may be necessary to elaborate at the meeting. 
 

Agenda 
Item No 

 

5c 22/00857/PIP - Land To The Rear Of Cleeve Road, Gretton Road, 
Gotherington,  

Committee Update 

Within Paragraph 9.1 of the conclusion of the report it states 'the appeal' must be 
determined in accordance with paragraph 11 (d) (ii) of the NPPF, this should say 
'the decision' rather than 'the appeal'. 

5d 23/00280/FUL- Bushcombe House Farm , Bushcombe Lane, Woodmancote 

1.0 Late Representation from Councillor Adcock 

Comment on Water Management Plan for 23/00280/FUL Bushcombe House 
Farm, Woodmancote - Written by Nigel Adcock as Woodmancote Flood Warden.  

As of this morning I cannot open the water management part of the plan on the 
portal. 

I am becoming increasingly concerned over the cumulative impact of 
development on the lanes that lead from Cleeve Hill into Woodmancote. Each 
and every application states that we are not in flood zone 1, insinuating that 
flooding is not an issue for the village. We are a very long way from a river so in 
this sense that is correct. However, our particular geology and topography do lead 
to surface water flooding generated by big rainfall events. These are becoming 
more common. I have noticed that periods of prolonged rainfall are more frequent, 
meaning that the limestone hill and the clay upon which much of Woodmancote is 
built is saturated for longer. Any heavy rainfall event will therefore have a greater 
impact on the village.  

Developers often quote the drainage hierarchy in their plans. Often choosing the 
lowest rungs on the hierarchy as their plan to deal with excess water. The best 
option for excess water is to let it infiltrate the ground. More paved surface area 
including rooftops, patios, roads, driveways, paths etc will obviously inhibit this 
process. So there is more mention of attenuation tanks and hydro brakes with the 
assumption that they will replicate the behaviour of open ground. This is often 
followed by the suggestion that any excess water not dealt with by attenuation 
tanks and hydro brakes will then be allowed to follow our small and often 
inundated local watercourses. They also site the use of Severn Trent's combined 
sewer infrastructure as being a possibility. I know from Severn Trent that they do 
not want storm water entering their already struggling ( 225mm or 300mm) 
combined sewers. These sewers often "lock out " in terms of high rainfall meaning 
they cannot accept any more water. This weekend we have had raw sewage 
entering gardens in nearby Chapel Lane. The cause of this hasn't been found yet. 
It is still being investigated. Excess rainwater must contribute towards this 

18



PL.19.12.23 

situation amongst a variety of other reasons. 

I also have concerns over Riparian rights. Surely there is a responsibility not to 
pass excess water on to roads or downstream neighbours. On Thursday 8th 
December 2023 significant water was flowing rapidly down both sides and across 
Bushcombe Lane. This will only be added to by another development in this 
location.  

The slope of the lanes also needs to be considered given the steepness and 
potential instability of soils. I fear this might lead to land slips under certain 
conditions. 

Nigel Adcock (Flood Warden, Parish and Borough Councillor) 10th December 
2003. 

2.0 Officer Comments 

Officers have checked and can assure that all documents are available to view 
via public access. The site is located within Flood Zone 1 and as such, there are 
no policy requirements for site-specific flood risk assessments.  

Officers have suggested a drainage condition (Condition 13) which requires the 
developer to submit detailed drainage information prior to the commencement of 
any development on the site. The developer is aware of, and has agreed to, this 
condition. Therefore, notwithstanding Councillor Adcock's comments, it is 
considered that the development can be made to be acceptable subject to the 
suggested detailed condition. 

5e 23/00874/FUL - Part Parcel 8019, Chargrove Lane, Up Hatherley  

Four additional representations received 

1. Member of the Public: 

Existing field gate should continue to be used and widened if necessary 

Use of existing access will not harm setting of historic South Park gates 

Complete map of applicant's land has not been supplied 

Chargrove Lane is a low traffic recreational lane 

Agricultural justification not established. 

2. Councillor G M Porter: 

This application has come before the Committee a third time having had the 
benefit of a deferment to seek revisions which were still considered unacceptable. 
This present application has, it is admitted, reduced the size and scale which 
before were grossly out of proportion; however I still believe this proposed access 
is unduly harmful without the outweighing benefits which would justify it. 

It must first be recognised that access to this piece of land already exists and has 
been used for many years without incident. The applicant refers to the moving of 
cattle and fodder which is apparently difficult with the existing access. I think this 
is somewhat exaggerated as a key part of this proposal is that the large vehicles 
which had been proposed on the previous occasion are no longer going to be 
used.  

Adding more access from Chargrove Lane to a piece of land which is already 
accessible is in my submission severely detrimental to the character of the lane, 
and detracts from its undeveloped and rural nature. It is true that the applicant 
has found it difficult to use the existing access when cars have been parked on 
the lay-by (although how often there are cars parked there is debatable, as I am a 
frequent walker and only rarely see cars parked there); it is also true that the 
applicant can and has used the existing access in the past, with surely only minor 

19



PL.19.12.23 

inconvenience - perhaps the vehicle had to reverse onto the drive at South Park 
farm. I fail to see how the access proposed will be any easier than what they 
already do, especially when the majority of their business will be moving hay to 
and from the site. 

I am prepared to admit the applicant suffers some inconvenience and I might be 
persuaded that this inconvenience will be ameliorated by the proposed access; 
however, I think far too little weight has been placed to the 60m of well 
established - indeed ancient - hedgerow which forms the attractive and much 
loved periphery of this well used road. Chargrove Lane, although lacking formal 
designation, is a valued walking route which, it is admitted in the report, will suffer 
from the granting of this application. I do not think the applicant has submitted 
compelling enough reasons for the destruction of the hedgerow - although 
replanting is proposed as a condition, we must acknowledge the time it takes for 
hedges to grow and establish themselves and the possibility that they may fail 
after the five year maintenance period cannot be ignored. The benefits to the rural 
economy - which under any reading surely must be considered minor - are, in my 
view, not sufficient to outweigh these concerns.  

I should also point out that the piece of land directly adjacent to this parcel is a 
designated nature reserve, and one which both Shurdington and Up Hatherley 
Parish Councils are proud of and are working to improve and preserve. The 
impact of the works themselves, as well as the intended use of this large access 
route, will doubtless have a deleterious effect on that reserve, which though 
dormant for many years has now become a cherished part of the lane. 

3.  Agent for the applicant: 

The agent has highlighted an error in the Committee report.  The applicant 
accepts the visibility splay would be 60m in total; however there is not currently 
60m of hedge within the visibility splay, (as the report describes) due to extensive 
gaps.  The Case Officer agrees that reinstatement (albeit in a different position) 
would result in a net gain of hedge, according to the landscaping plan. 

4. Gloucestershire County Council Highways: 

The Highways Officer has no objection but requested a condition to secure a 
highway cleaning management plan, in the event mud is transferred from the field 
onto the highway. 

An additional condition is proposed: 

Prior to first use of the access proposed, a highway cleaning management plan 
shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The access 
shall not be used other than in accordance with the approved highway cleaning 
management plan. 

Reason:  In the interests of maintaining highway safety.  

 
 
 
 
 

20



Planning Committee 

Date 23 January 2024 

Case Officer Paul Instone 

Application No. 22/00610/OUT 

Site Location Part Parcel 2352 Mythe Road Tewkesbury  

Proposal Residential Development (up to 165 dwellings), associated works, 
including infrastructure, open space, landscaping and pumping 
station. Construction of a new vehicular access from Mythe Road and 
demolition of existing structures. 

Ward Tewkesbury North And Twyning 

Parish Tewkesbury 

Appendices Site location plan 
Concept Masterplan 

Reason for Referral 
to Committee 

Full or outline application for the erection of 10 or more residential 
units 

Recommendation Minded To Refuse 

 
Site Location 
 

 
 
 

21

Agenda Item 5a



 
1. Purposes of the Report 

  
1.1 This application was validated by the Council on 20th May 2022 and the Description of 

Development amended on 7th June 2023. Since the submission of the application the 
Council's officers and a number of consultees have tried to work proactively with the 
appellant, in accordance with guidance in the NPPF, so that the application could be put 
into an appropriate condition for presentation to this Committee. However the applicant has 
decided to lodge an appeal in respect of the application with the Secretary of State (a 'non-
determination' appeal) before matters of concern could be fully discussed or resolved. The 
Council must therefore advise the Secretary of State of its views on the proposals. 

 
 
2. The Proposal 

  
 Full application details are available to view online at: 

http://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-
applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=RC6SFVQDKAS00 
 

2.1 
 
 
 
 
2.2 
 
 
 
 
 
2.3 
 
 
 
2.4  
 
 
 
 

The proposal seeks outline planning permission for residential development of up to 165 
dwellings, public open space, vehicular and pedestrian access from Mythe Road (A38), a 
pumping station and associated infrastructure.  All other matters relating to access, 
appearance, landscaping, layout and scale reserved for subsequent approval.  
 
The application has been amended during the determination of the application and a number 
of design amendments incorporated into the scheme, including the removal of proposed 
dwellings from the southern part of the original application site (to the north west of Mythe 
Farm).  As a result of these amendments the number of proposed dwellings has reduced 
from up ‘up to 235’ to ‘up to 165’. 
 
The amended application site extends to 11.75 hectares and the application is supported by a 
Concept Masterplan and Design and Access Statement which shows how a scheme of up to 
165 dwellings could be accommodated of which up to 40% would be affordable.   
 
The Concept Masterplan and Design and Access Statement show a form of development with 
the following components: 
 

- The provision of up to 165 dwellings of which 40% would be affordable dwellings. 
- The removal of the existing access to Mythe Farm. 
- The creation of a new vehicular and pedestrian access off the A38 (to the south of the 

existing access). 
- Dwellings located in northern part of the site with an average net density of 36dph. 
- The retention of the existing woodland in the south west corner of the application site 

which is protected by a Tree Preservation Order. 
- New woodland planting around the northern, eastern and southern boundaries to link 

into the existing woodland. 
- The creation of a communal green area to the north of the retained woodland which 

would also contain a LEAP. 
- The provision of a LAP in the north western corner of the site. 
- A footpath around the southern, northern and eastern perimeters of the built form 

which would connect to the existing PRoW on the eastern boundary of the site. 
- A SuDs attenuation basis on the north east corner of the site and a swale and smaller 

pond in the southern part of the site. 

22

http://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=%5eND,KEYVAL.DCAPPL;
http://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=%5eND,KEYVAL.DCAPPL;


- Indicative off site scheme of works along the A38 towards Tewkesbury. This is located 
outside of the red line and predominately relates to widening of the footway to provide 
a combined walking and cycling route which is segregated from traffic into 
Tewkesbury. 

  
3. Site Description 

  
3.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.2 
 
 
3.3 

The site entrance is located at The Mythe approximately 1.2km north of Tewkesbury Town 
Centre (via the A38) and the proposed housing would be located approximately 1km to the 
north west of the defined settlement boundary of Tewkesbury (as the crow flies), as defined in 
the Proposals Map to TBLP. The site sits on an elevated spur of land, which lies between the 
river valleys of the Avon and Severn.   The site extends to 11.75 ha of predominantly 
agricultural land, interspersed with a small area of existing woodland, bounded by hedgerows.  
The land slopes down towards the River Avon to the east and the current access into the site 
is gained off the A38 Mythe Road, located to the west, via the existing farm track which runs 
through the southern part of the site. This access also serves Mythe farmhouse and Mythe 
Farm Business Centre (See attached location plan). The site lies in Flood Zone 1 
 
A public right of way (PRoW), Tewkesbury Footpath 6 (ZTE6) runs along the eastern 
boundary of the site and the application proposes a pedestrian connection onto this footpath. 
 
The Council have also, in exercise of the powers conferred on them by Section 198 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990, made a Tree Preservation Order (No.421) to protect 
the woodland within and around the site, including two individual Oak Trees at the existing 
entrance to the site. Tree Preservation Order 421 also includes an area of woodland in the 
location of the proposed new site access off the A38, which partially lies outside of the 
application site.   

  
4. Relevant Planning History 

 

Application 
Number 

Proposal Decision Decision 
Date    

15/01293/OUT Residential development of up to 250 dwellings, 
public open space, vehicular and pedestrian 
access, and associated infrastructure. Detailed 
approval is sought for access arrangements from 
Mythe Road, with all other matters to be reserved 

Withdrawn  11.04.2016 

16/01138/OUT Residential development of up to 205 dwellings, 
public open space, vehicular and pedestrian 
access, and associated infrastructure. Detailed 
approval is sought for access arrangements from 
Mythe Road, with all other matters to be reserved. 

Refused 06.07.2017 

21/00006/SCR Proposed Construction of a Residential 
Development of up to 250 dwellings and 
associated infrastructure on land east of Mythe 
Road, The Mythe, Tewkesbury. Request for 
Screening Opinion under Regulation 6 of the 
Town and County Planning (Environmental 
Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017 (as 
amended) 

EIA not 
Required 

23.08.2021 

23



Tree Presentation 
Order (No. 421) 

Tree Presentation Order 421, Part Parcel 2352 
and Land Adjacent Mythe Road, Tewkesbury  
 

Sealed 21.12.2023 

 
5. Consultation Responses 

  
 Full copies of all the consultation responses are available online at 

https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/. 
 

5.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tewkesbury Town Council – Object as there is insufficient information to enable the 
Town Council to reach a conclusion. There is insufficient information on SUDS 
management and maintenance and properties downhill and downstream may be 
impacted by the development. Specifically, the Town Council have raised the following 
comments: 

- Concerned that the location of this site will encourage suburban sprawl to the 
north of the town that would overwhelm the identity of Tewkesbury as a small 
market town with a built environment that is rich in historical heritage. 

- The Town Council encourage the adoption of recreational facilities by the 
Borough Council. 

- The energy plan lacks sufficient strategies for the reduction of energy use and 
carbon emissions. The Town Council would expect the developer to make a 
commitment to, for example, the provision of electric car charging points, the 
incorporation of solar panels, the use of heat pumps, or grey water recycling. 

- The Town Council appreciates the reduction in houses and increase in the 
number of trees shown in the amended masterplan, which it hopes will lead to an 
increase in biodiversity over the site and surrounding fields. 

- Concerned how Travel Plan will be implemented and that strategies to encourage 
active and sustainable travel will not be achieved. 

- Ascending the hill to the site will be a challenge to many cyclists, people carrying 
shopping, very young, elderly, or disabled walkers, parents/grandparents pushing 
prams and pushchairs and also to users of mobility scooters. 

- A safe crossing to the western side of the Mythe Road is a necessity, in order to 
create safe sustainable access to the Garden Centre and the Mythe Railway 
Nature Reserve. 

- This development is likely to make the Mythe Road busier and visibility is already 
not good for people turning into the road from the garden centre. 

- There is no bus service for the site and the County Council have indicated it is 
unlikely one will be achieved. 

- Traffic from the development will exacerbate queuing at the Black Bear 
roundabout. 

- The applicant’s cycling plan is not plausible and due to the gradients future 
residents are unlikely to commute by bicycle. 

- The proposal will result in a reduction in air quality. 
- The proposal is not realistically accessible to Ashchurch Train Station. 

 
Active Travel England - Active Travel England’s statutory consultee remit applies only 
to qualifying consultations that were made valid by the local planning authority on or after 
1st June 2023. As such, they have not provided a full assessment on this application but 
offer the following observations on the proposed development:  

- There is an existing footway on the A38 that would connect the site to Tewksbury 
town centre. The footway appears around 1m in width around the site entrance 
before widening opposite the garden centre. The Transport Assessment (TA) 
describes this as narrowing again to 1.3m for 70m alongside the frontage wall of 

24

https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.3 
 
5.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Mythe Cottage. To improve pedestrian and cycle provision along the A38, the 
applicant has put forward proposals for a shared footway/cycleway by widening 
parts of the route towards the town centre. It is unclear at this stage whether the 
local highway authority is content with the proposed reduction in carriageway 
width and loss of highway verge along parts of the route, but we will nonetheless 
provide comments based on the applicant’s proposal. With regard to walking and 
wheeling (e.g. those using wheelchairs and mobility scooters) provision, part 4.2 
of Inclusive Mobility states that a footways should be at least 2m wide to enable 
two wheelchairs to pass. Where this is not feasible due to physical constraints, 
then Inclusive Mobility states that a width of 1.5m could be regarded as the 
minimum acceptable. On this basis, and where the LPA would be minded to grant 
planning permission for this development, the footway around Mythe Cottage 
should be widened to at least 1.5m, with all other sections being at least 2m wide. 
However, even at 1.5m the footway would allow very little clearance for passing 
alongside fast-moving traffic, and so advice should be taken from the local 
highway authority on whether a 1.5-metre width would be deemed safe in this 
location. 
 

- Notwithstanding the above comments in terms of infrastructure provision for 
pedestrians, the site entrance is located some 1.2km from the edge of 
Tewkesbury town centre and 1.3km from the closest food shop. This represents a 
walking time of 15.5 minutes and a 4-minute cycling time as shown in Table 4.1 of 
the TA (this is based on a walking speed of 1.4 m/s taken from the CIHT’s 
‘Providing for Journeys on Foot’ and a cycling speed of 5.5 m/s taken from DMRB 
Volume 11 Section 3 Part 8). Table 4.1 of the TA also identifies several other 
local facilities and services within the site’s vicinity. Of those which will benefit a 
broad range of users, none of the destinations can be reached from the site 
entrance by foot in less than 20 minutes. Furthermore, the above journey lengths 
would be further still when accounting for the internal access road and size of the 
site, with residents towards the northern end expected to have a further 500m+ 
added to their journeys depending on site layout. Additionally, there are currently 
no regular public transport options within a reasonable walking distance of the 
site, with the closest railway station being 4.8km from the site and the closest bus 
service operating on Mondays only. Subsequently, it is not considered that this 
situation offers a genuine and credible sustainable transport alternative to private 
motor vehicle use. 
 

- The proposed shared footway/cycleway would require southbound cyclists to join 
the carriageway on two occasions between the site and town centre and would 
not cater for returning cyclists travelling north towards the site. As such, it is not 
considered that the proposed works would provide for a safe and attractive route 
for cyclists. 

 
 
Communities Team – No objection subject to planning obligations 
 
Conservation Officer – Object  
 
To construct a modern housing development at the brow of the hill in this location and the 
associated highways requirements would, despite attempts to screen it, appear alien and 
discordant in relation to the historic rural character of the area and the setting of 
associated heritage assets. 
 

25



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.5 
 
 
5.6 
 
 
5.7 
 
 
5.8 
 
5.9 
 
5.10 
 
5.11 
 
 
5.12 
 
 
 
 
5.13 
 
 
 
 
 
5.14 
 
5.15 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

It is considered that the proposed development will give rise to a high degree of less than 
substantial harm to the setting of The Mythe and Uplands (all Grade II Listed). The 
Coach House to The Mythe (Grade II Listed) would experience a moderate degree of 
less than substantial harm to its setting and Mythe Farm and Mythe End (non-designated 
heritage assets) would experience a low degree of harm. Views into and out of 
Tewkesbury Town Conservation Area and the approach to the town would also 
experience a moderate degree of less than substantial harm.  
 
As such the proposal is contrary to Sections 66(1) and 72(1) of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act , Section 16 of the NPPF, JCS Policy SD8, and 
Local Plan Policies HER 1, 2 & 5. 
 
County Archaeologist – No objection - there is a low risk that archaeological remains 
will be adversely affected by this development proposal. 
 
County Highways Authority – No objection subject to conditions and financial 
obligations  
 
County S106 Officer – No objection subject to planning obligations to secure an 
obligation towards library infrastructure 
 
Ecological Advisors – No objection subject to conditions 
 
Environment Agency – No comments to make 
 
Environmental Health – No objection subject to conditions 
 
Exolum Pipelines – Exolum’s apparatus will be affected by the proposals. The applicant 
must contact Exolum prior to the commencement of works 
 
Gloucestershire Minerals and Waste –. No objection, but concerns raised that the site 
will sterilise a sand and gravel resource as safeguarded in Policy MS01 of the Adopted 
Minerals Local Plan for Gloucestershire. The extent of any mineral sterilisation that could 
occur is unknown and this is potential harm of the development. 
 
Historic England – Concerned regarding the application as submitted (for 235 
dwellings) on heritage grounds and assessment of visual impacts of the proposed 
development requested. Officers have sought the views of Historic England on the 
Verified Visual Images provided by the applicant at the end of November 2023 and an 
update will be provided at committee. 
 
Housing Enabling Officer – No objection 
 
Landscape Advisor – Concerns raised on landscape impact 
 
The proposals are not considered in keeping with the surrounding landscape but rather in 
striking contrast to the existing rural character, the existing settlement form on the Mythe 
and creating an unconnected, contemporary housing area set well away from the 
settlement of Tewkesbury. There are no similar building arrangements in the local 
contextual landscape and their anticipated regular size, height and form are incongruous 
within this location. They are set on the top of a valued landscape feature that is clearly 
visible and contributes positively to existing local landscape character as well as the 
wider setting of Tewkesbury. 

26



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.16 
 
5.17 
 
 

The illustrative landscape mitigation would have limited effect on this adverse landscape 
effect as there would still be the sense of major built development set on the top of the 
Mythe and a resulting degradation of the Mythe as an important landscape feature. 
 
The Verified Visual Images suggest that the proposals can be screened from sight in 
certain views after 15 to 25 years but not being able to see something is not mitigation to 
the permanent change to a local landscape feature. 
 
Even with the housing set some way from the A38 the new access point will introduce a 
highly urban road junction on a rural stretch of road changing its character as it 
approaches Tewkesbury. It would add to the sense of encroachment into the countryside 
given its appearance and the fact that it must lead to a development. The new access 
replaces one of more rural character that currently allows parkland to be seen beyond it. 
The placing of the new footpath and cycleway would be highly evident from the A38 and 
add to the sense of extending urban form along the rural road where at the moment there 
is a sense of rurality and disconnection from Tewkesbury. 
 
The retention of the majority of mature trees appears to be readily achievable with the 
loss of an estimated 10m wide gap through the inter-field tree line for the development’s 
main spine road to run. There would likely be a net gain in tree numbers with the 
indicated tree planting within both fields but these new trees would be read as 
subservient to the development that they were planted to complement and make little or 
no contribution to the existing wider landscape character. The Verified Visual Images 
suggest that the line of houses set behind the twin heritage properties at the southern 
end of the Mythe would still be visible urbanising their backdrop until years 15 to 25 when 
the southern tree planting would screen the presence of the houses.  
 
The road passes in this area and vehicle movements, particularly of taller vehicles may 
still be evident on the south facing dipping edge of the Mythe landform. The Verified 
Visual Images model the presence of the road but from a non-public viewpoint and it 
does not show vehicles or street lights upon it to give a more accurate impression of its 
character within the local scene. 
 
The Verified Visual Images illustrate the housing on the hill and indicate that there will be 
a Major-Moderate change to the character of the site itself and that the perception of this 
character change extends beyond the boundary of the site to the north, east and south to 
adversely affect the character the adjacent landscape. This adverse effect to the adjacent 
landscape is until the landscape screening takes full effect from years 15 to 25 onwards. 
The adverse effect on the Site is permanent. 
 
In design terms there is still the perception that if a development has to be hidden by 
heavy screening from the surrounding landscape then it is in an inappropriate location. 
 
The site is considered a ‘valued landscape’ and there is conflict with this particular part of 
the NPPF as the proposals neither conserve or enhance it.  The application also 
conflicts with Policy SD6, Policy SD4 Part I and Part iv of the JCS and Policy LAN2 of the 
TBLP. 
 
Lead Local Flood Authority – No objection subject to conditions 
 
National Highways – No objections subject to conditions 
 
 

27



5.18 
 
 
 
 
 
5.19 
 
 
 
 
5.20 
 
 
 
 
 
5.21 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.22 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.23 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Natural England - Based on the plans submitted, Natural England considers that the 
proposed development will not have significant adverse impacts on designated sites and 
has no objection. In terms of Bredon Hill, to meet the requirements of the Habitats 
Regulations, we advise the LPA to record the decision that a likely significant effect can 
be ruled out. 
 
Public Rights of Way Officer - No change to the surface of the public right of way can 
be approved without consultation with the County Council and there must be no 
interference with the public right of way, either during development or once it has been 
completed. 
 
Urban Design Advisors – The application was amended further to comments from the 
Council’s Urban Design Advisors and it is advised that the design elements of the 
scheme  
are moving in a positive direction. Certain aspects could be developed further through 
more detailed development stages. 
 
Severn Trent – Object 
 
Severn Trent objects to this application due to concerns regarding the potential risk of 
flooding and pollution.  Investigations are ongoing to better understand the impact of this 
proposal and to consider what improvement to the wastewater network may be required.   
At this moment in time, Severn Trent cannot provide a deadline for their investigations, 
but until this work is complete, they will not be able to comment further. 
 
Sports England - The proposed development does not fall within their statutory remit 
and no detailed response provided.  However, it is advised that the proposal may 
generate additional demand for sport and if existing sports facilities do not have the 
capacity to absorb the additional demand, then new and/or improved sports facilities 
should be secured and delivered in accordance with any approved local policy for social 
infrastructure, and priorities set out in any Playing Pitch Strategy or Built Sports Facility 
Strategy that the local authority has in place. 
 
It is also advised that in line with the NPPF (including Section 8) and PPG (Health and 
wellbeing section), consideration should also be given to how any new development, 
especially for new housing, will provide opportunities for people to lead healthy lifestyles 
and create healthy communities.  
 
Tree Officer – Additional information required 
 
The Council’s Tree Officer has reviewed the application and subsequently a Tree 
Preservation Order has been sealed on the site and it is advised that additional 
information is required regarding the proposed access and tree retention/removal. 
 
The Officer advises that the proposed new access to the site has not had a tree survey 
carried out on the mature trees either side of the access that line the A38. This belt of 
trees is an important feature when entering and leaving Tewkesbury and the Officer 
requires additional information to see how the visibility splays will be achieved with 
minimal removal of these valuable trees. 
 
In terms of the proposed housing, the Officer advises that the proposal indicated on the 
Concept Masterplan is acceptable and retains the mature woodland to the north of the 
access road.  

28



  
6. Third Party Comments/Observations 

  
 Full copies of all the representation responses are available online at 

https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/. 
  
6.1 
 
 
 
 
6.2 

The application has undergone two periods of consultation for the proposal as submitted 
and the amended application, and has been publicised through the posting of site notices 
for a period of 21 days, neighbour notification letters and the publication of a press 
notice. 
 
30 representations have been received in response.  The comments raised are 
summarised below 
 

- The application is contrary to the Development Plan and outside of Tewkesbury’s 
settlement boundary. 

- The scale and nature of the proposal are inappropriate for this location. 
- The proposal is in an elevated prominent position and it will have a negative 

impact on the landscape, character of The Mythe area as well as negative impact 
on Tewkesbury Town. 

- The proposal would result in the loss of an historic landscape from The Abbey to 
Brendon Road. 

- The proposal will cause harm to the setting of numerous designated heritage 
assets. 

- The proposal will cause congestion including at A38/A438 junction. 
- The proposal will increase traffic noise. 
- Additional road traffic and construction vibrations could affect the structural 

integrity of the adjacent buildings including designated heritage assets (Grade II* 
King John’s Castle). 

- The proposed site access is unsafe and road users do not abide by the speed 
limit. 

- The site is not served by public transport, there are no bus stops in the vicinity 
and the site is not easily accessible to the train station.  The site is not 
sustainable. 

- The footpath into Tewkesbury is very dark at night and its narrow and unsafe for 
pedestrians. 

- The site is clearly located outside of a desirable walking distance to nearby 
amenities including schools, employment and retail.  This is exacerbated by the 
gradient of Mythe Road. 

- The foul drainage connection point is unclear and there is no foul connection 
anywhere near. 

- Storage ponds will likely be discharged into the Avon which will exacerbate 
flooding. 

- The proposal will increase the risk of flooding elsewhere. 
- The proposal does not respect the local context and street pattern. The scale and 

proportions of the buildings would be alien to the character of the area. 
- The proposal would harm biodiversity, protected species and wildlife habitats. 
- Dwellings bordering the site would be severely overlooked and there would be an 

invasion of privacy.  The Council should consider its responsibilities under the 
Human Rights Act. 

- There is insufficient capacity in existing services such as healthcare, child 
facilities and schools to accommodate the additional population. 

- Tewkesbury has already substantially expanded on three side and the existing 

29

https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/


open countryside in proximity to the town should be retained.  
- The proposal is not in keeping with the Garden Town aspirations and the 

enhancement of the natural environment. 
- There has been inadequate public consultation. 
- There are better locations around Tewkesbury to provide housing. 
- The proposal will result in the loss of trees. 
- The construction phase will damage infrastructure and property. 
- The construction phase will impact on residential amenity. 
- No allowance has been made for Self and Custom Build Housing plots. 

 
   
7. Relevant Planning Policies and Considerations 

  
7.1 Statutory Duty 

Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in 
accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise 
 
The following planning guidance and policies are relevant to the consideration of this 
application: 

  
7.2 National guidance 
 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the National Planning Practice 

Guidance (NPPG) 
  
7.3 Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy (JCS) – Adopted 11 

December 2017 
 − Policy SP1 (The Need for New Development) 

− Policy SP2 (The Distribution of New Development) 

− Policy SD3 (Sustainable Design and Construction) 

− Policy SD4 (Design Requirements) 

− Policy SD6 (Landscape) 

− Policy SD8 (Historic Environment) 

− Policy SD9 (Biodiversity and Geodiversity) 

− Policy SD10 (Residential Development) 

− Policy SD11 (Housing Mix and Standards) 

− Policy SD12 (Affordable Housing) 

− Policy SD14 (Health and Environmental Quality) 

− Policy INF1 (Transport Network) 

− Policy INF2 (Flood Risk and Management) 

− Policy INF3 (Green Infrastructure) 

− Policy INF4 (Social and Community Infrastructure) 

− Policy INF6 (Infrastructure Contributions) 

− Policy INF7 (Developer Contributions) 

− Policy REV1 (Gloucester and Tewkesbury Housing Supply Review) 
  
7.4 Tewkesbury Borough Local Plan to 2011-2031 (TBLP) – Adopted 8 June 2022 
 − Policy RES2 (Settlement Boundaries)  

− Policy RES3 (New Housing Outside Settlement Boundaries)  

− Policy RES5 (New Housing Developments)  

− Policy RES12 (Affordable Housing)  

− Policy RES13 (Housing Mix)  

− Policy DES1 (Housing Space Standards)  

30



− Policy HER1 (Conservation Areas) 

− Policy HER2 (Listed Buildings)  

− Policy HER5 (Non-Designated Heritage Assets) 

− Policy LAN2 (Landscape Character)  

− Policy NAT1 (Biodiversity, Geodiversity and Important Natural Features)  

− Policy NAT3 (Green Infrastructure: Building with Nature)  

− Policy NAT5 (Cotswold Beechwoods)  

− Policy ENV2 (Flood Risk and Water Management)  

− Policy HEA1 (Healthy and Active Communities)  

− Policy RCN1 (Public Outdoor Space, Sports Pitch and Sports Facility Provision)  

− Policy COM2 (Broadband Provision)  

− Policy TRAC1 (Pedestrian Accessibility)  

− Policy TRAC2 (Cycle Network and Infrastructure)  

− Policy TRAC3 (Bus Infrastructure)  

− Policy TRAC9 (Parking Provision) 
  
7.5 Neighbourhood Plan 
 None 

 
7.6 Other relevant policies/legislation 

- Human Rights Act 1998 
- Article 8 (Right to Respect for Private and Family Life) 
- The First Protocol – Article 1 (Protection of Property) 
- Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 

 
8. Policy Context 

  
8.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8.2 
 
 
 
8.3 
 
8.4 
 
 

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that 
proposals be determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. Section 70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 provides that the Local Planning Authority shall have regard to the provisions of the 
Development Plan, so far as material to the application, and to any other material 
considerations. 
 
The Development Plan currently comprises the Joint Core Strategy (JCS) (2017), policies 
of the Tewkesbury Borough Local Plan to 2011-2031 (June 2022) (TBLP), and a number 
of 'made' Neighbourhood Development Plans. 
 
The relevant policies are set out in the appropriate sections of this report. 
 
Other material policy considerations include national planning guidance contained within 
the National Planning Policy Framework 2021 and its associated Planning Practice 
Guidance (PPG), the National Design Guide (NDG) and National Model Design Code. 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

31



9. Evaluation 

  
 
 
 
9.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.2 
 
 
 
 
 
9.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.5 
 
 
 
 
9.6 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) (EIA) Regulations 
2017 
 
Under the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 
2017 the proposal constitutes Schedule 2 development under Column 2 (10b) of the EIA 
Regulations, as the size of the application site exceeds 5 hectares and the application 
proposes in excess of 150 dwellings. On the 23rd August 2021, the Local Planning 
Authority issued an adopted screening opinion in respect of the proposed development 
which was that the submission of an Environmental Statement in connection with this 
development was not required. 
 
Five Year Housing Supply 
 
The NPPF requires local planning authorities to demonstrate an up-to-date five year 
supply of deliverable housing sites (or a four year supply if applicable). Where local 
authorities cannot demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites, paragraph 
11 of the NPPF sets out that housing policies contained within development plans should 
not be considered up-to-date. 
 
Further to the recent Trumans Farm, Gotherington Appeal decision (ref. 22/00650/FUL), 
and subsequently published Tewkesbury Borough Five Year Housing Land Supply 
Statement October 2023, the Council’s position is that it cannot at this time demonstrate 
a five year supply of deliverable housing land. The published position is that the Council’s 
five year supply of deliverable housing sites is 3.24 years supply of housing land.  
Officers consider this shortfall is significant. The Council’s policies for the provision of 
housing are therefore out of date in accordance with footnote 8 of the NPPF.    
 
Paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF therefore applies and states that where policies which are 
most important for determining the application are out of date, permission should be 
granted unless: i) the application of policies in the Framework that protect assets of 
particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development; or ii) any 
adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, 
when assessed against the policies in the Framework taken as a whole 
 
Principle of development 
 
In order to further sustainability objectives and in the interests of protecting the 
countryside, the housing policies of the JCS set out a development strategy for the 
Borough. Strategic Policies SP1 and SP2 of the JCS set out the scale and distribution of 
development to be delivered across the JCS area in the period to 2031. 
 
Tewkesbury is identified as a Market town in the JCS and Policy SP2 sets out that to 
meet the needs of Tewkesbury Borough, none of which is being met by the urban 
extensions to Gloucester and Cheltenham, the JCS will make provision for at least 9,899 
new homes. At least 7,445 dwellings will be provided through existing commitments, 
development at Tewkesbury town in line with its role as a market town, smaller-scale 
development meeting local needs at Rural Service Centres and Service Villages.  
 
 
 
 

32



9.7 
 
 
 
 
9.8 
 
 
 
 
9.9 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.10 
 
 
 
 
 
9.11 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.12 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.13 
 
 
 
 
 

The application site is located outside of the defined settlement boundary for Tewkesbury 
as defined in TBLP Proposals Map.  The Concept Masterplan shows that the proposed 
housing would be located approximately 1km to the north west of the defined settlement 
boundary and is disconnected from the existing built up area of Tewkesbury by fields. 
 
TBLP Policy RES3 states that outside of the defined settlement boundaries, the principle 
of new residential development will only be considered acceptable where development 
being proposed consists of one of the exceptions.  None of the exceptions apply to the 
proposed development. 
 
Policy SD10 confirms that housing development on other sites will only be permitted 
where it is previously developed land in the existing built-up areas of Tewkesbury town, 
service centres and service villages, or it is: 
i. It is for affordable housing on a rural exception site in accordance with Policy 
SD12, or; 
ii. It is infilling within the existing built up areas of the City of Gloucester, the 
Principal Urban Area of Cheltenham or Tewkesbury Borough's towns and villages except 
where otherwise restricted by policies within District plans, or; 
iii. It is brought forward through Community Right to Build Orders, or; 
iv. There are other specific exceptions / circumstances defined in district or 
neighbourhood plans. 
 
The application site is not allocated for housing development and does not meet any of 
the exceptions of Policy SD10 of the JCS or Policy RES3 of the TBLP.  The application 
therefore conflicts with Policy SP2 and SD10 of the JCS and Policy RES3 of the TBLP 
and the conflict with these adopted development plan policies are the starting point for 
decision making. 
 
The proposal is therefore unacceptable in principle due to its location outside of any 
defined settlement boundaries on undeveloped land. However, it is also the case that a 
5-year supply of deliverable housing sites cannot currently be demonstrated. The NPPF 
states at paragraph 11 and footnote 8, that if a local authority cannot demonstrate that a 
5-year housing land supply exists, then the policies which are most important for 
determining the application are deemed out of date. 
 
Consequently, paragraph 11d of the NPPF sets out that in circumstances where the most 
important policies for determining an application are out of date (and this includes 
circumstances where the local planning authority cannot demonstrate a 5-year supply of 
deliverable housing sites, as is the case here) there is a presumption that planning 
permission be granted unless: 

(i) the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of 
particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development 
proposed; or  

(ii) any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework 
taken as a whole. 

 
The protected areas or assets of particular importance referred to at (i) above are defined 
in footnote 7 of the NPPF and include ‘designated heritage assets’ which the Annex 2 
Glossary of the NPPF confirms includes ‘listed buildings’ and ‘Conservation Areas’. 
 
 
 

33



9.14 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.15 
 
 
 
 
9.16 
 
 
 
 
 
9.17 
 
 
9.18 
 
 
 
 
 
9.19 
 
 
 
9.20 
 
 
 
9.21 
 
 
 
9.22 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.23 
 
 
 

The protected areas or assets of particular importance as defined by footnote 7 which are 
of relevance to this case are: 
 
- The Mythe (Grade II Listed). 
- The Coach House to The Mythe (Grade II Listed) 
- Uplands (Grade II Listed) 
- Tewkesbury Town Conservation Area  
 
Therefore as a starting point, the tilted balance and paragraph 11d of the NPPF would be 
engaged and the conflict with policies SP2, SD10 and RES3 must be weighed in the 
planning balance. However, careful considered must also be given to whether the ‘tilted 
balance’ is disapplied insofar as paragraph 11di of the NPPF is engaged.   
 
It is still necessary for the decision maker to have regard to all other relevant 
considerations which must be weighed in the overall planning balance. 
 
 
Historic Environment (Designated Heritage Assets) 
 
Section 66 of the Listed Buildings and Conservation Area Act places a statutory duty on 
LPAs to have special regard to the desirability of preserving the setting of listed buildings.  
 
Paragraph 205 of the NPPF states that when considering the impact of a proposed 
development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be 
given to the asset’s conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the 
weight should be). This is irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to 
substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance. 
 
Paragraph 206 of the NPPF states that any harm to, or loss of, the significance of 
heritage assets (including from development within its setting) should require clear and 
convincing justification. 
 
Paragraph 208 of the NPPF states that where a development proposal will lead to less 
than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should 
be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal. 
 
Policy SD8 of the JCS sets out that development should make a positive contribution to 
local character and distinctiveness, having regard to valued and distinctive elements of 
the historic environment.  
 
Policy HER1 of the Local Plan states that proposals for development in or within the 
setting of conservation area will need to have particular regard to the potential impact on 
its character and setting.  New development will be expected to preserve or enhance the 
character and appearance of conservation areas through high quality design and use of 
appropriate materials. Proposals will be required to demonstrate a thorough 
understanding of the significance,  character  and setting of conservation areas and 
how this has informed proposals, to achieve high quality new design  which  is  
respectful  of  historic  interest  and  local  character.   
 
Policy HER2 of the Local Plan states that alterations, extensions or changes of use to 
Listed Buildings, or development within their setting, will be  expected  to  have  no  
adverse  impact  on  those  elements  which  contribute  to  their  special  
architectural or historic interest, including their settings. 

34



 
9.24 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.25 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.26 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.27 
 
 
 
 
9.28 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.29 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.30 
 

 
Historic England have been consulted on this application and amongst other comments 
requested an assessment of the visual impacts of the proposed development on the 
setting of the Grade I listed Tewkesbury Abbey.  Verified Visual Images were 
subsequently provided by the applicant and Historic England have been re-consulted on 
the application.  Officers are awaiting a consultation response from Historic England and 
an update will be provided at Committee. 
 
The Council’s Conservation Officer has also been consulted on the planning application 
and reviewed the Verified Visual Images provides by the applicant.  The Officer advises 
that the area of the proposal site is a substantial area of rising ground formed over time 
between the Rivers Avon and Severn. The word Mythe means ‘a narrow strip of land 
between the confluence of two rivers’. This land formation has long had ancient and 
important significance to the area and the town. The ‘Mythe Tute’, which is south of 
Mythe Court is an ancient man made mound formed long before the route of the later 
turnpike and used throughout history as a look out and vantage point to survey the main 
river crossing and the land beyond.  Such is the strategic nature of this ancient 
landscape that it is understood that during the early Roman period a section of Imperial 
Legions were camped at The Mythe during their suppression of the local Dubunni tribe. 
Due to its landscape and both tangible and intangible potential for heritage, the Mythe 
has a strong sense of history. 
 
The proposal site is split into two elements, separated by a bank of trees and a new 
access formed to the South. The houses will populate the north section of the site and 
the southern section is currently proposed for landscape and drainage. The area of the 
site to the south and any views of new housing through the tree belt north of this point will 
be within the setting of a number of heritage assets. Most notably affected are The 
Mythe, its Coach House and Uplands (all Grade II Listed). 
 
The significance and level of harm of the affected designated heritage assets, as 
identified by the Conservation Officer is set out below: 
 
The Mythe (Grade II listed) 
 
The Mythe Grade II listed building’s significance is that it is a red brick formal 18th 
Century house with 19th Century additions including stone gothic frontage. It stands 
prominently in an elevated parkland like landscape with far reaching views to and from 
the town. Built as a statement of relative affluence, significance is derived from age, 
architectural style and location and historic significance as an example of a large house 
associated with the town. 
 
The building is prominent and is viewed against a backdrop of the rising ground to the 
north. The nature of the impact of the proposed development is that any development 
that remains visible to the south of the application site would have a very harmful impact 
upon the open pastural/park like setting of the listed building. The Conservation Officer 
has identified that the proposed development could not be successfully mitigated within a 
reasonable timeframe and would cause a high level of harm to the setting of the listed 
building. The impact will be particularly striking when looking straight up towards the 
building or standing at the rear of the building and also progressing along the track 
leading up to Uplands. 
 
As such the Conservation Officer identifies that the proposal will have a high degree of 
less than substantial harm on this designated heritage asset. 

35



 
 
 
9.31 
 
 
 
9.32 
 
 
 
 
9.33 
 
 
 
 
9.34 
 
 
 
 
 
9.35 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.36 
 
 
 
 
9.37 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.38 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The Mythe Coachouse (Grade II Listed) 
 
The 18th Century stables and carriage house, is contemporary with and ancillary to The 
Mythe. It’s significance is derived from age, architectural style and location and historic 
significance. 
 
The Conservation Officer has identified that the proposed development would give rise to 
a peripheral and cumulative negative impact upon the listed coach house. It will be 
possible to sense the encroachment of the development upon the coach house and its 
integral association with The Mythe 
 
As such the Conservation Officer identifies that the proposal will give rise to a moderate 
degree of less than substantial harm on this designated heritage asset. 
 
Uplands (Grade II Listed) 
 
The Uplands is a 18th Century house with 19th Century additions standing prominently in 
an elevated parkland like landscape with far reaching views to and from the town. Built as 
the dower house to The Mythe as a statement of relative affluence. Significance is 
derived from age, architectural style and location and historic significance as the dower 
house on the Mythe estate. 
 
The building is prominent and is viewed against a backdrop of the rising ground to the 
north. The nature of the impact of the proposed development is that any development on 
the brow to the north could not be successfully mitigated within a reasonable timeframe 
and would have a very harmful impact upon the open pastural/park like setting of the 
listed building. Such development could not be successfully mitigated and would cause a 
high level of harm to the setting of the listed building. The impact will be particularly 
striking when looking towards the building from the south. 
 
As such the Conservation Officer identifies that the proposal will give rise to a high 
degree of less than substantial harm on this designated heritage asset. 
 
Tewkesbury Conservation Area 
 
The Tewkesbury Conservation Area was adopted in 1969 and amended in 1987. It 
covers most of the town and a substantial area of water meadow between the River 
Severn and the Mill Avon known as The Ham. The boundary extends up to the line of the 
old railway just south of The Mythe and Uplands. The significance of the Conservation 
Area is broad and encompasses a number of factors including the medieval street 
pattern and surviving buildings, the Abbey and the surrounding water meadows. In 
regard to the area closest to the development site this significance represents the water 
meadows and the rural approach to the town via Beaufort and King John’s bridge 
marking an abrupt beginning to the town. 
 
The setting of the Conservation Area in this location includes the rural approach to the 
town down from the rising ground and across the water meadow. The Conservation 
Officer has identified that the imposition of a housing development on the high ground 
(even north of the current tree belt) would have a harmful visual impact upon the sense of 
rurality that is characteristic of the approach to the town and the sense of this place and 
would in turn have a negative impact upon the setting of the conservation area and views 
out of the conservation area. This impact would be most intense along the A38 between 

36



 
 
 
 
9.39 
 
 
 
 
9.40 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.41 
 
 
 
 
9.42 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.43 
 
 
 
9.44 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.45 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.46 
 
 
 
 

Beaufort Bridge and the turning for Uplands. The impact upon views out of the 
Conservation Area also extend to areas of the Ham and tourist viewpoints such as the 
Abbey tower. 
 
As such the Conservation Officer identifies that the proposed development would have a 
moderate degree of less than substantial harm on Tewkesbury Conservation Area. 
 
Off-Site Impacts 
 
In addition to the impacts set out above from the proposed development within the 
application site, the Conservation Officer also identifies that the off-site proposals to 
widen the footway on the A38 and install a wide suburban road up though the field would 
also have a negative urbanising impact upon the character of the area and the setting of 
the listed buildings. 
 
Conclusion Designated Heritage Assets 
 
In conclusion, the Conservation Officer concludes that in respect to designated heritage 
assets, to have a modern housing development at the brow of the hill in this location 
would appear alien and discordant in relation to the historic character of the area and the 
setting of The Mythe its Coach House, and Uplands.  
 
It is considered that the proposed development will give rise to a high degree of less than 
substantial harm to the setting of The Mythe and Uplands (all Grade II Listed). The 
Coach House to The Mythe (Grade II Listed) would experience a moderate degree of 
less than substantial harm to its setting. Views into and out of Tewkesbury Town 
Conservation Area and the approach to the town would also experience a moderate 
degree of less than substantial harm.  
 
As such the proposal is contrary to Sections 66(1) and 72(1) of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act and contrary to policies SD8 of the JCS and 
policies HER1 and HER2 of the TBLP. 
 
In terms of the NPPF, the identified harms to designated heritage assets would be less 
than substantial. Nonetheless, the identified harms are a matter of considerable 
importance and weight for the planning balance. As such, these harms must be weighed 
against the public benefits of the proposed development in the overall planning balance 
in the context of paragraph 11di of the NPPF. 
 
Historic Environment (Non-Designated Heritage Assets) 
 
Paragraph 209 of the NPPF states that the effect of an application on the significance of 
a non-designated heritage asset should be taken into account in determining the 
application. In weighing applications that directly or indirectly affect non-designated 
heritage assets, a 
balanced judgement will be required having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and 
the significance of the heritage assets. 
 
Policy SD8 of the JCS sets out designated and undesignated heritage assets and their 
settings will be conserved and enhanced as appropriate to their significance, and for their 
important contribution to local character, distinctiveness and sense of place.  
 
 

37



9.47 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.48 
 
 
 
9.49 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.50 
 
 
 
 
 
9.51 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.52 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.53 
 
 
 
 
 
9.54 
 
 
 

Policy HER5 of the TBLP states that locally Important Heritage Assets will be conserved 
having regard to the significance of the asset and its contribution to the historic character 
of the area. Proposals affecting a Locally Important Heritage Asset and/or its setting will 
be expected to sustain or enhance the character, appearance and significance of the 
asset. Proposals that seek the preservation and/or enhancement of these assets will be 
encouraged. Historically  important  groups  of  farm  buildings  will  be  protected  
from  proposals  for  destructive  development or demolition. 
 
In respect to non-designated heritage assets, the Council’s Conservation Officer has 
identified that there are two assets impacted by the proposed development, being Mythe 
Farm and Mythe End. 
 
Mythe Farm is a brick farmstead dating from 19th Century with a modest farmhouse and 
represents the home farm to The Mythe. Its significance is derived from its age 
construction, association with the hierarchy of the estate and the history of agriculture. 
The farm is not particularly prominent and is generally in an enclosed setting. The 
Conservation Officer has identified that it is unlikely that the development would have a 
direct negative impact upon the immediate setting however, from the east the farmstead 
would be seen in conjunction with the development and would no longer be seen as an 
isolated farmstead in wider views. As such a low degree of harm is identified to this non-
designated heritage asset. 
 
Mythe End is a late 19th Century villa in generous grounds located to the west of the 
application site. The rear of the house is in close proximity to the development site and 
the Conservation Officer consider that it will be possible to both see and to sense the 
encroachment of the development upon the setting of the property. As such a low degree 
of harm is identified to this non-designated heritage asset. 
 
The identified harms to these non-designated heritage assets weighs moderately against 
the proposals and a balanced judgement must be afforded to this harm in the planning 
balance and decision making process.  The identified harm also give rise to a conflict 
with Policy SD8 of the JCS and Policy HER5 of the TBLP. 
. 
Landscape and Visual Impact 
 
Paragraph 180a of the NPPF sets out that the planning system should contribute to and 
enhance the local environment by, inter alia, protecting and enhancing Valued 
Landscapes in a manner commensurate with their statutory status or identified quality in 
the Development Plan. The Council appointed a Landscape Advisor to review the 
application and it is considered that the site is classified as a ‘Valued Landscape’ and has 
sufficient value across a wide range of factors and it is therefore the case that paragraph 
180a of the NPPF applies to the development proposals 
 
JCS Policy SD4(i) states that new development should respond positively to, and respect 
the character of, the site and its surroundings. Policy SD4(iv) states that new 
development should ensure that the design of landscaped areas, open space and public 
realm are of high quality, provide a clear structure and constitute an integral and 
cohesive element within the design.  
 
JCS Policy SD6 states that development will seek to protect landscape character for its 
own intrinsic beauty and for its benefit to economic, environmental and social well-being. 
Proposals will have regard to local distinctiveness and historic character of different 
landscapes and proposals are required to demonstrate how the development will protect 

38



 
 
 
9.55 
 
 
 
 
9.56 
 
 
 
9.57 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.58 
 
 
 
 
 
9.59 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.60 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.61 
 
 
 
9.62 
 
 
 
 
 
 

landscape character and avoid detrimental effects on types, patterns and features which 
make a significant contribution to the character, history and setting of a settlement area.  
 
Policy RES5 bullet point 3 of the TBLP states that new housing development should – 
where an edge of settlement is proposed – respect the form of the settlement and its 
landscape setting, not appear as unacceptable intrusion in to the countryside and retain a 
sense of transition between the settlement and the countryside. 
 
Policy LAN2 of the TBP states that all development must, through sensitive design, 
siting, and landscaping, be appropriate to, and integrated into, their existing landscape 
setting. 
 
The site is predominately two arable fields set to the top of the Mythe ridge with access  
proposed from the A38 to the south of the smaller southern field. The red line boundary 
also includes a small mature woodland and associated line of trees that separates the 
two fields.  The Mythe is a local landmark in terms of its topographical form and position 
acting as a peninsula, or spur of high ground separating the two major rivers – The Avon 
and The Severn before their confluence approximately 700m south beyond the Severn 
Trent’s Mythe Water Treatment Works. 
 
Tewkesbury Footpath 6 (ZTE6) runs up from the Avon floodplain and traverses the slope 
of the Mythe to run along most of the Site’s larger northern field’s eastern edge. The 
views from this path are panoramic and attractive in nature taking in the Cotswold 
Escarpment to the east across the Avon floodplain. There are also views up to the Site’s 
eastern boundary on the Mythe top from the paths that follow the west bank of the Avon. 
 
The Mythe as a piece of ground is distinctive set as the backdrop to both the Avon and 
Severn flood plains and visible to the north of Tewkesbury. There is a definite sense of 
descending down to the floodplain on which Tewkesbury sits when using the A38 to 
access town. From the adjoining landscape it appears almost as a ‘whale-back’ 
breaching the adjacent flat floodplain form. The site is set on the upper flatter part of the 
Mythe rather than its steeper banks but also slopes down south towards Tewkesbury 
itself. 
 
There are no large areas of contemporary residential development associated with the 
Mythe or this section of the A38. There is a distinct sense of separation between the area 
and the main settlement of Tewkesbury. The proximity of this distinctive landscape to 
Tewkesbury Town Centre and it’s Conservation Area provides an important contribution 
to the rural character of the town and the landform is appreciated from important 
recreational and tourist areas including the River Avon, River Severn and The Severn 
Ham. 
 
The applicant has submitted a Landscape and Visual Impact Appraisal and Verified 
Visual Images in support of the application which have been reviewed by the Council’s 
Landscape Advisor. 
 
The Council’s Landscape Advisor identifies, inter alia, the following landscape and visual 
effects: 
 
-The proposals are still not considered in keeping with the surrounding landscape but 
rather in striking contrast to the existing rural character, the existing settlement form on 
the Mythe  
creating an unconnected, contemporary housing area set well away from the settlement 

39



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.63 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

of Tewkesbury.  
 
-There are no similar building arrangements in the local contextual landscape and the  
anticipated regular size, height and form of the dwellings will appear incongruous within 
this location.  
 
-The dwellings are set on the top of a valued landscape feature that is clearly visible and 
contributes positively to existing local landscape character as well as the wider setting of 
Tewkesbury 
 
- The illustrative landscape mitigation would have limited effect on this adverse 
landscape effect as there would still be the sense of major built development set on the 
top of the Mythe and a resulting degradation of the Mythe as an important landscape 
feature 
 
-Even with the housing set some way from the A38 the new access point will introduce a 
highly urban road junction on a rural stretch of road changing its character as it 
approaches Tewkesbury. It would add to the sense of encroachment into the countryside 
given its appearance and the fact that it must lead to a development. The new access 
replaces one of more rural character that currently allows parkland to be seen beyond it. 

 
-It is identified that the construction of the proposed new footpath and cycleway along the 
A38 would also be highly evident from the A38 and add to the sense of extending urban 
form along the rural road where at the moment there is a sense of rurality and 
disconnection from Tewkesbury 

 
-The main visual effects arising from the revised proposals will occur for visual receptors 
to the south east and east for footpath users following the course of the River Avon, the 
immediate footpath ZTE6 as it runs by the Site and for users of the same path as they 
approach the site from the north. Further away there will be notable sight to the 
development from the residential street Hawser Road to the east of the River Avon that 
has the benefit of distance to judge the development in its wider context on the Mythe. 
There will also be the visual effect of the new road entrance from the Mythe (A38) road 
corridor near to the Tewkesbury Garden Centre. All visual effects are considered 
Adverse. 

 
-The effects are considered Adverse because of the uncharacteristic nature of the 
development within its immediate visual context creating a sense of incongruous change. 
This insertion of a contemporary housing form and density within a rural location will 
extend the visual influence of urban form out into the open countryside. 

 
In conclusion on landscape effects, the Advisor agrees with the applicant that the sites 
landscape character has a medium to high sensitivity.  However, the Advisor disagrees 
with the applicant and considers that there will be a Major-Moderate change to the 
character of the Site itself and that the perception of this character change extends 
beyond the boundary of the Site to the north, east and south to adversely affect the 
character the adjacent landscape. This adverse effect to the adjacent landscape is until 
the landscape screening takes full effect from years 15 to 25 onwards. The adverse 
effect on the Site is permanent. 
 
 
 
 

40



9.64 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.65 
 
 
 
 
9.66 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.67 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.68 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.69 
 
 
 
 

Overall, Officers have carefully considered the landscape effects and visual impacts of 
the proposed development and conclude that the proposed development, including the 
cycle path on the A38 would, in officer's opinion, result in significant local landscape harm 
to a Valued Landscape. This is exacerbated by the number of viewpoints which the 
development would be visible from. It is also considered that the landscape impacts at 
night, in relation to light spill in an otherwise dark rural setting, would be particularly 
pronounced. Furthermore, the development would fail to respond to its rural landscape 
context and the delivery of an urban housing estate in this location, however well 
designed, would considerably change the rural character of the area. 
 
It is considered that the proposal fails to protect or conserve a Valued Landscape 
contrary to paragraph 180a of the NPPF and that the landscape harms arising from the 
proposed development also give rise to a conflict with policies SD4 and SD6 of the JCS 
and policies RES5 and LAN2 of the TBLP. 
 
Overall the proposed development and associated work would result in substantial 
landscape harm which weighs substantially against the development in the planning 
balance. 
 
 
Access, Connectivity and Highway Safety  
 
The NPPF sets out that opportunities to maximise sustainable transport solutions will 
vary between urban and rural areas, and this should be taken into account in both plan-
making and decision-making. Furthermore, development should only be prevented or 
refused on highways grounds where there would be an unacceptable impact on highway 
safety or the residual cumulative impacts of development are severe. JCS Policy INF1 
requires that developers should provide safe and accessible connections to the transport 
network to enable travel choice for residents and commuters. 
 
Walking, Cycling and Connectivity 
 
Active Travel England have been consulted on this application and have advised that 
their statutory consultee remit does not apply to this application as it was made valid after 
1st June 2023. Notwithstanding this matter, Active Travel England have observed that in 
terms of infrastructure provision for pedestrians, the site entrance is, this located some 
1.2km from the edge of Tewkesbury town centre and 1.3km from the closest food shop. 
This represents a walking time of 15.5 minutes and a 4-minute cycling time. It is also 
noted that several other local facilities and services within the site’s vicinity, but none of 
the destinations can be reached from the site entrance by foot in less than 20 minutes. It 
is also noted that residents towards the northern end of the application site could 
expected to have a further 500m+ added to their journeys depending on site layout. 
Additionally, there are currently no regular public transport options within a reasonable 
walking distance of the site, with the closest railway station being 4.8km from the site and 
the closest bus service operating on Mondays only. Consequentially, Active Travel 
England advise that it is not considered that this situation offers a genuine and credible 
sustainable transport alternative to private motor vehicle use. 
 
The County Highways Authority have also been consulted on the application and initially 
raised concerns in respect of the connectivity of this site, and the walking route along the 
A38 towards facilities within Tewkesbury. The Industry Standard practice is that walking 
distances of up to 2km is considered a reasonable distance for future occupiers to walk 
to access day to day services, and cycling has the potential to replace many trips up to 

41



 
 
 
 
 
9.70 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.71 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.72 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.73 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

5km in length. It is recognised that the development site is located on the cusp of what 
would be considered an acceptable walking distance to services and facilities, with the 
northern periphery of the site likely to be close to, if not slightly exceeding this 2km 
distance when the walking route is taking into consideration. 
 
Following the concerns raised by the Highway Authority in respect of the walking route 
along the A38 towards Tewkesbury, the Applicant’s Transport Consultant have produced 
an indicative scheme of works along the A38 towards Tewkesbury. This predominately 
relates to widening of the footway to provide a combined walking and cycling route which 
is segregated from traffic into Tewkesbury. Cycling Infrastructure standards are set out 
within LTN/120 “Cycling Infrastructure Design”. This states that shared use walking and 
cycling facilities can be considered adequate on interurban routes with few building 
frontages. Any works on the A38 in this location would be subject to detailed design 
work, and would be subject to a S278. Part of this process would require the inclusion of 
a Road Safety Audit.  The Highway Authority are satisfied that there is adequate 
highway land available for a scheme to be delivered here which would have tangible 
benefits to walking and cycling in the area. These improvements would provide benefit 
beyond this development alone, providing wider benefits for pedestrians and cyclists who 
currently use the footway alongside the A38. 
 
Consequently, the Highways Authority considered that whilst the development is located 
on the fringe of what they consider an acceptable distance from services and facilities, 
the proposed improvement works along the A38 would provide mitigation to help 
encourage walking and cycling in the area. Therefore, based on the evidence presented, 
the Highway Authority do not consider there is merit or grounds to object to the 
application on locational sustainability, and would be unable to support a 
recommendation of refusal on these grounds. 
 
The requirement to provide the walking and cycling improvements along the A38 will 
need to be secured via a planning condition as the drawings submitted at this time are 
only indicative. This is usual practice and gives the Highway Authority the confidence that 
a scheme can be secured in this location.  However, as set out elsewhere in this Report, 
whilst the benefits the benefits of a segregated walking/cycling route are acknowledged, 
Officers do have concerns that the route in itself would appear as an urbanising feature, 
extending urban form along the rural road where at the moment there is a sense of 
rurality on one of the principal approaches to the town from the M50 
 
Public Transport 
 
The Highways Authority recognise that the nearest bus stops which future residents 
could use to access bus routes are located within Tewkesbury approximately a 15 minute 
walking distance from the development site. Bus stops here provide a half hourly 
frequency, and there is a desire to increase the frequency of public transport services in 
this area.  The Highways Authority do not object to the application on the grounds of 
connectivity to public transport, but consider it reasonable that this development provides 
a contribution towards public transport improvements in this area. Based on contributions 
secured for other developments in this area, it is considered that a S106 contribution of 
£133,650 is provided by this development towards the improvements of the services 
within the town. 
 
 
 
 

42



 
 
9.74 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.75 
 
 
 
 
 
9.76 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.77 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.78 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.79 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Travel Plan 
 
The Highways Authority advise that there is a requirement for a development of this scale 
to provide a Travel Plan. The purpose of this document is to ensure that all opportunities 
for sustainable transport are taken up by future residents. In this instance the Applicant 
have offered to provide a S106 contribution to GCC as Highway Authority to enable the 
implementation of a Travel Plan. The cost of this S106 has been calculated and at 
£54,790 and has been agreed with the Applicant and it would be responsibility of the 
Highways Authority to implement the Travel Plan.  
 
Access 
 
The application is submitted in outline with all matters reserved, and as such access is 
not a matter for determination at this time.  However, the red line location plan shows 
where vehicular access would be obtained to the A38 and the applicant’s Planning 
Statement advises that access will be provided by way of a priority junction from Mythe 
Road. 
 
The Highway Authority have advised that they are satisfied that should the site be 
granted consent, it would be possible and feasible for the site to provide a safe and 
suitable access to the highway.  The Highways Authority also confirms the site can 
connect to the highway 
network, and the plans submitted by the applicant gives the Highway Authority 
confidence that safe and suitable access can be achieved in this location.  The Applicant 
has suggested that in order to facilitate safe access in this location the extent of the 
40MPH speed limit will need altering. This will require changes to the Traffic Regulation 
order and there is a S106 cost relating to this. 
 
Whilst the Highways Authority are satisfied that a safe and suitable access can be 
achieved to the site, the Planning Authority separately have concerns that this access will 
be urban in nature and would necessitate the loss of trees which are subject to Group 
TPO. These concerns are addressed elsewhere in this Report. 
 
Highway Impact 
 
With regard to vehicle movements and highway impact, the applicant has provided data 
on base conditions, and the traffic generation of the proposed development. As a sense 
check of this data, the Highway Authority has completed a number of spot checks of 
traffic flows in the locality of the application site, and are content that the baseline 
position within the applicant’s Transport Assessment is broadly comparable with on site 
traffic conditions. 
 
The Highway Authority has reviewed the baseline position and the expected traffic flows 
arising from the proposed development and conclude that the development will not have 
a severe impact on the operation of the Highway Network, subject to conditions and 
planning obligations towards sustainable initiatives. As such, the Highways Authority 
advise that they would not be able to support a recommendation of refusal on the 
grounds of highway impact. 
 
 
 
 
 

43



 
 
9.80 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.81 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.82 
 
 
 
 
 
9.83 
 
 
 
 
 
9.84 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.85 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.86 
 
 
 
 

Strategic Road Network 
 
National Highways have been consulted on the application and considered the traffic 
data, committed developments, growth and modelling, and consider that there would be 
no severe adverse impact on the operation of the Strategic Road Network as a result of 
the proposed development, subject to the imposition of appropriate planning conditions. 
 
Highways Impact and Locational Sustainability Conclusion 
 
Overall it is concluded that whilst the proposed development is outside of settlement 
boundary and detached from the existing built form and service infrastructure of the 
settlement there is not merit or grounds to refuse the application on locational 
sustainability, connectivity to public transport, subject to securing mitigation measures 
including a contribution towards public transport improvements, a segregated 
walking/cycling route along the A38 and contributions towards securing a Travel Plan. 
 
Whilst access is a reserved matters, it is also concluded that it would be possible and 
feasible for the site to provide a safe and suitable access to the highway and it is also 
concluded that the traffic generation arising from the development would not have a 
severe impact on the operation of the Highway Network, subject to conditions and 
planning obligations towards sustainable initiatives. 
 
The proposal is therefore considered acceptable in regard to highway safety and 
locational sustainability subject to the imposition of planning conditions and securing the 
planning obligations requested by the County Highways Authority. 
 
Design and layout 
 
Section 12 of the NPPF sets out that the creation of high quality, beautiful and 
sustainable buildings and places is fundamental to what the planning and development 
process should achieve. It continues by stating that good design is a key aspect of 
sustainable development, creates better places in which to live and work and helps make 
development acceptable to communities. Planning decisions should, amongst other 
things, ensure that developments will function well and add to the overall quality of the 
area and should be sympathetic to the local character, including the surrounding built 
environment. Paragraph 135 of the NPPF makes it clear that planning permission should 
be refused for development of poor design that fails to reflect local design policies and 
government guidance on design contained in the National Design Guide and National 
Model Design Code 
 
The National Design Guide (NDG) addresses the question of how we recognise well-
designed places, by outlining and illustrating the government priorities for well-design 
places in the form of ten characteristics; one of which is the context. The NDG provides 
that well-designed development should respond positively to the features of the site itself 
and the surrounding context beyond the site boundary and that well-designed new 
development needs to be integrated into its wider surroundings, physically, socially and 
visually. 
 
JCS Policy SD4 provides that new development should respond positively to, and 
respect the character of, the site and its surroundings, enhancing local distinctiveness, 
and addressing the urban structure and grain of the locality in terms of street pattern, 
layout, mass and form. It should be of a scale, type, density and materials appropriate to 
the site and its setting. Criterion 6 of Policy SD10 of the JCS states that residential 

44



 
 
 
 
9.87 
 
 
 
 
 
9.88 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.89 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

development should seek to achieve maximum density compatible with good design, the 
protection of heritage assets, local amenity, the character and quality of the local 
environment, and the safety and convenience of the local and strategic road network. 
 
This advice is echoed in JCS policy SD4 which states new development should respond 
positively to, and respect the character of, the site and its surroundings, enhancing local 
distinctiveness, and addressing the urban structure and grain of the locality in terms of 
street pattern, layout, mass and form. It should be of a scale, type, density and materials 
appropriate to the site and its setting. 
 
All matters relating to design and layout are reserved for future consideration.  However, 
the application has been supported by a Concept Masterplan and a Design and Access 
Statement.  Both of these plans/documents have been revised during the determination 
of the application following comments from Officers which resulted in the applicant 
reducing the number of proposed dwellings from ‘up to 235’ to ‘up to 165’.  The Revised 
Concept Masterplan and Design and Access Statement show how the site could be 
developed at reserved matters stage. 
 
The application has been reviewed by urban design consultants who have advised in 
regard to the illustrative internal layout of the scheme that: 
 

- The proposed density of the scheme has been lowered to 36dph, as a result of 
the reduction of the number of dwellings from 235 to 165. 
 

- The expanded and formalised public open space (POS) is a welcomed 
amendment to the Concept Masterplan, where this has potential to create a green 
focal point for the local community. 

 
- Previous comments were raised in regard to the poorer connectivity towards the 

northern blocks of development, due to a restriction of movement along the north-
western boundary with dwellings backing onto existing properties. The proposed 
extension of the spine road has helped to provide a more direct access to the 
northern blocks, which will enhance the connectivity strategy for both pedestrians 
and vehicles towards the southern POS and entrance/exit. 
 

- The integration of the LEAP within this space, along with the relocation of the LAP 
to the northern boundary of the scheme connected via a looped pedestrian route 
will encourage walking and cycling between the proposed open spaces. It is 
positive to see proposals for a high-quality trim trail with naturalistic features 
providing play on the way opportunities. This is a positive feature of the site’s 
health and wellbeing contribution. It appears that dwellings will be fronting onto 
these key public spaces, which will be important to provide a sense of enclosure, 
formality, and active frontage onto the green and play spaces. 

 
- It is positive that the updated layout has found a way to integrate the existing 

pond which is an ecological valuable feature into the central green, ensuring that 
biodiversity and visual amenity is provided at this location of the scheme. 

 
- The level of analysis and consideration of the surrounding built context within the 

updated Design and Access Statement is hugely encouraging, which 
demonstrates a much clearer understanding and appreciation of the farmstead 
characteristics . As the site’s previous use is a farm, there is clear potential to 
reflect these characteristics through farmstead typologies and supported design 

45



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.90 
 
 
9.91 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.92 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

features which have been listed within the Design and Assessment Statement.  
 

- The indicative elevations also provide good examples of this built typology, and 
the Advisor would support similar proposals reflected in the house types for the 
rural edges of this scheme. It is considered the farmstead typologies would 
significantly enhance the quality and appearance of the development, by 
integrating it much more successfully within its agricultural context, and there is 
potential to create memorable house types for residents to enjoy living in. 

 
- At this stage of the application, the principles surrounding the approach to 

creating well-defined streets and spaces in the scheme are supported, and it is 
positive to see that each area will have a clearly defined character relating to the 
site’s context and its surroundings, with their own individual design components to 
make them distinct. 

 
- The principles in different approaches to the materials, building typologies, 

landscape strategies and relationship to the street between each character area 
will enhance the variety across the development, therefore making it easier to 
distinguish between streets and maximising legibility for residents. 

 
- It is positive that the proposed development is set within open space and 

landscaping as this presents an opportunity to ensure the health and well-being 
benefits of open space and nature are provided. The increase in size of the 
central green, with the inclusion of the LEAP, creates a more formal space and 
community function for the new development and existing residents along Mythe 
Road. 

 
In conclusion, the Urban Design Advisor concludes that the inner workings of the layout, 
built form, site character and distinctiveness, and open space strategies are acceptable. 
 
Therefore, overall, notwithstanding the concerns raised in respect of landscape impact 
and impact on designated heritage assets, it is considered that the Concept Masterplan 
and Design and Access Statement demonstrate that an acceptable standard of design 
could be achieved on the site for the development proposed at reserved matters stage. 
Officers consider that if permission is granted, a condition should be imposed requiring 
the reserved matters to accord with the principles set out within the Design and Access 
Statement and Concept Masterplan. 
 
 
Residential amenity 
 
In respect of the impact of the development upon residential amenity, paragraph 135 of 
the NPPF specifies that planning decisions should ensure development creates places 
with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users. This advice is reflected in 
JCS policies SD4 and SD14 which require development to enhance comfort, 
convenience and enjoyment through assessment of the opportunities for light, privacy 
and external space. Development should have no detrimental impact on the amenity of 
existing or new residents or occupants. Policy RES5 of the TBLP also sets out the 
proposals should provide an acceptable level of amenity for the future occupiers of the 
proposed dwellings and cause no unacceptable harm to the amenity of existing 
dwellings, 
 
 

46



9.93 
 
 
 
 
 
9.94 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.95 
 
 
 
 
9.96 
 
 
 
 
 
9.97 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.98 
 
 
 
 
9.99 
 
 
 
 
9.100 
 
 
 
 

Policy DES1 (Housing Space Standards) of the TBP requires all new residential 
development to meet the Government’s national space standards as a minimum, to 
ensure that high quality homes are delivered that provide a sufficient amount of internal 
space appropriate for occupancy of the dwelling. These space standards will be secured 
as part of any future reserved matters application. 
 
The application is in outline and therefore the specific internal relationship of the 
dwellings, as well as the relationship of the proposed development with the surrounding 
built form on the site boundaries will need careful consideration as part of any future 
reserved matters application. However, officers consider that ,subject to the approval of 
details at reserved matters stage, the residential amenity of existing and future occupiers 
would be acceptable. 
 
 
Housing mix 
 
Policy SD11 of the JCS and RES13 of the TBLP requires all new housing development to 
provide an appropriate mix of dwellings sizes, types and tenures in order to contribute to 
mixed and balanced communities and a balanced housing market. Housing mix should 
be based on the most up to date evidence of local housing need and market demand. 
 
The Gloucestershire Local Housing Needs Assessment 2019 – Final Report and 
Summary (September 2020) (LHNA) provides the most up to date evidence based to 
inform the housing mix on residential applications. This report states that in Tewkesbury 
3% of new market dwellings should be one bedroom properties, with 13% having two 
bedrooms, 54% containing three bedrooms and 29% having four bedrooms or more 
 
The DAS sets out the proposals allow for a range of dwellings across the site with 
varying sizes and tenures to accommodate a variety of household types. Given the 
proposal is in outline, should planning permission be granted, a condition is 
recommended to secure the market housing mix so that the schedule of accommodation 
would be in broad accordance with the most up to date evidence of the local housing 
market need and market demand at the time the first reserved matters application for the 
residential development is submitted 
 
 
Affordable housing 
 
Paragraph 8 of the NPPF states that the planning system needs to perform a number of 
roles, including a social role in supporting strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by 
providing a supply of housing required to meet the needs of present and future 
generations.  
 
Policy SD12 of the JCS and Policy RES12 of the TBLP requires 40% of the proposed 
houses to be secured as affordable housing. Negotiations have taken place throughout 
the application process in order to secure the optimum tenure and mix of affordable units 
for the development.  
 
The applicant has engaged with officers during the determination of the application and 
has provided an affordable mix which would contribute towards the Borough’s needs. 
The proposed mix is: 
 
 

47



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.101 
 
 
 
9.102 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.103 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.104 
 
 
 
9.105 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Social Rent – 40 units 
1 bed 2 person – 11 units 
2 bed 4 person – 13 units 
3 bed 5 person – 5 units 
3 bed 6 person – 5 units 
4 bed 7 person – 2 units 
4 bed 8 person – 2 units 
5 bed 7 person – 1 unit  
5 bed 8 person – 1 unit 
 
Shared Ownership – 26 units 
1 bed 2 person – 4 units 
2 bed 4 person – 11 units 
3 bed 5 person – 5 units 
3 bed 6 person – 5 units 
4 bed 7 person – 1 units 
 
 
The provision of affordable housing, particularly the provision of social rent units of a 
larger size, is considered to be a significant benefit of the proposals to be weighed in the 
planning balance.  
 
The Council’s Housing Strategy and Enabling Officer considers the proposed scheme 
would be policy compliant and therefore acceptable. The applicant has indicated that the 
affordable housing would be secured through a S106 Agreement, albeit there is currently 
no signed planning obligation. 
 
 
Surface Water Drainage and flood risk 
 
JCS Policy INF2 advises that development proposals must avoid areas at risk of flooding 
and must not increase the level of risk to the safety of occupiers of a site and that the risk 
of flooding should be minimised by providing resilience and taking into account climate 
change. It also requires new development to incorporate Sustainable Urban Drainage 
Systems (SuDS) where appropriate to manage surface water drainage. This is reflected 
in Policy ENV2 of the TBP and the NPPF. 
 
The application site is located in Flood Zone 1 and has a low probability of fluvial 
flooding. A ordinary watercourse exists along the northern boundary of the site and a 
further ordinary watercourse exists to the south of the site.   
 
The application is accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment and a surface water 
drainage strategy has been produced for the site. It is proposed that on site attenuation is 
provided  
up to the 1 in 100-year plus 40% climate change event, using sustainable drainage 
systems where appropriate with a network of pipes and ponds to provide suitable flow 
transmittance and attenuation. Positive outfalls to the adjacent watercourses and to the 
existing network within Mythe Road are proposed and detailed within the proposed 
drainage strategy. 
 
 
 
 

48



9.106 
 
 
 
 
9.107 
 
 
 
 
 
9.108 
 
 
 
 
9.109 
 
 
 
9.110 
 
 
 
 
 
9.111 
 
 
 
 
 
9.112 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.113 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.114 
 
 
 
 

Evidence has been obtained on site identifying the watercourses and their routes 
between the site and their outfalls, confirming that they ultimately discharge to the River 
Avon (EA Main River). These are ordinary watercourses and are therefore subject to the 
Land Drainage Act 1991. 
 
The Lead Local Flood Authority, the statutory consultee for surface water flood risk and 
management, have been consulted on the application and raise no objection to this 
proposal subject to appropriate planning conditions to secure a detailed Sustainable 
Drainage System Strategy in accordance with principles of the Drainage Strategy 
submitted as part of the outline application. 
 
In light of the above, it is considered that the site is at a low risk of flooding and would not 
increase the risk of flooding to third parties. 
 
Foul Drainage 
 
At the time of preparing this Committee Report, Severn Trent has advised that they 
object to this application as their investigations predict that the additional foul flow poses 
a risk of pollution. 
 
Severn Trent advise that they are committed to reduce such risks and are currently 
formulating plans to invest in improvements to their network that will reduce the risk of 
future pollutions across our region.  It is advised that whilst this work is a very high 
priority for Severn Trent, they have not yet determined where this particular area will fit 
into their plans, other than they hope to undertake improvements before 2030. 
 
Severn Trent advise that they need more time to better understand the issues and 
determine what improvements may be required. Officers are continuing to liaise with 
Severn Trent on this matter and will provide an update to Members at Committee.   
 
Biodiversity 
 
The NPPF sets out, inter alia, that when determining planning applications, Local 
Planning Authorities should aim to conserve and enhance biodiversity by encouraging 
opportunities to incorporate biodiversity in and around developments, especially where 
this can secure measurable gains for biodiversity. Policy SD9 of the JCS seeks to protect 
and, wherever possible enhance biodiversity, including wildlife and habitats. Policy NAT1 
of the TBLP states that development proposals that will conserve, and where possible 
restore and/or enhance, biodiversity will be permitted. 
 
The application is supported by an Ecological Assessment which identifies that the site 
predominantly comprises arable fields with narrow grassland margins and hedgerows 
with trees, together with part of an adjacent wider semi-improved grassland field bounded 
by hedgerows, woodland and associated rough grassland margins, an allotment area  
associated with mown amenity grassland (lawn), pond, and hardstanding. Habitat 
surveys have been carried out in order to ascertain the general ecological value of the 
site and to identify the main habitats and associated plant species. 
 
The Assessment identifies that the majority of habitats within the site are considered to 
be of low ecological importance being dominated by arable land, semi-improved 
grassland (of no particular botanical note) and amenity grassland. The woodland, 
hedgerows and trees and pond are of some relatively greater ecological value in the 
context of the site. 

49



9.115 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.116 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.117 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.118 
 
 
 
9.119 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.120 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.121 
 
 
 
 

The Assessment sets out that the majority of hedgerows and trees are to be retained 
within the development proposals and concludes that the hedgerows to be lost are of low 
quality and mitigation planting is proposed. It is also identified that arable land is to be 
lost to the development. The amenity grassland is to be incorporated into an area of open 
space whilst the majority of the semi-improved grassland within the site boundary is to be 
retained within proposed development, with small areas being lost in the south of the site 
to facilitate new access road and associated landscaping. It is recommended that the 
losses to these habitats be offset by the creation of new species-rich grassland within 
areas of open space, which could be sown with a native, species-rich seed mixture. 
 
The woodlands within the site are of greater ecological value in the context of the site. 
These areas offer suitable nesting and foraging opportunities for birds, shelter and refuge 
for reptiles and amphibians (including Great Crested Newts) and foraging and 
dispersal/navigational opportunities for wildlife, e.g. bats and badgers. The majority of the 
woodland is to be retained within the development proposals, although as set out 
elsewhere in the Report some woodland would be lost to facilitate the new access roads.  
To mitigate the loss the Assessment recommends new tree planting of an area greater 
than that lost is to be included within the proposed development. It is also recommended 
that the existing retained woodland be bought into favourable management to maximise 
its ecological value, e.g. removal of non-native trees, selective thinning as required to 
create a varied age structure, and establishment of a more varied woodland ground flora. 
 
The pond within the site is identified of being of greater ecological value in the context of 
the site as it provides habitat for a range of wildlife including Great Crested Newts and 
Grass Snakes. This pond is shown to be retained in the Concept Masterplan. In addition 
two new attenuation features are proposed to be created as part of the proposals. These 
would be designed to hold areas of permanent water, suitable for Great Crested Newts 
and of a greater overall surface area than existing pond. 
 
In terms of species, a small population of Great Crested Newts was recorded within pond 
P1 within the site during surveys undertaken by EDP in 2015, so a Natural England 
European Protected Species licence will be required prior to any works commencing. 
 
A low population of Grass Snake was recorded within the grass field margins in the north 
of the site in 2021 and a small population was recorded in the south west of the site in 
2015. Small areas of rough grassland are to be lost to facilitate access and will be 
subject to a small-scale translocation and habitat manipulation exercise prior to any 
removal of this habitat. The provision of wildflower / rough grassland within areas of open 
space together with the provision of log piles / refuges will retain opportunities for reptiles. 
 
Bat activity has also been identified within the site and several trees within the site were 
identified as having potential to support roosting bats. These trees are all to be retained 
as part of the proposals and would be unaffected by the proposed development. The 
existing woodland will be retained and maintain east-west links for bats and connect to 
other new  
open spaces.  These features will also provide habitat for birds which are present within 
the site. 
 
In regard to impact on habitats and species, the Council’s Ecological Advisors have been 
consulted on the application and advise that the mitigation proposed during site 
clearance and construction is appropriate. This includes the protection of all retained 
trees and other retained habitats, and measures to protect badgers, reptiles and nesting 
birds. It is also advised that a sensitive lighting scheme should be adopted during the 

50



 
 
 
 
 
 
9.122 
 
 
 
9.123 
 
 
 
9.124 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.125 
 
 
 
9.126 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.127 
 
 
 
 
 
9.128 
 
 
 
 
 
9.129 
 
 
 
 
9.130 
 
 

construction phase to prevent light spill onto retained habitats, thus avoiding potential 
impacts on foraging / commuting bats. With respect to Great Crested Newts, it is 
identified that a mitigation strategy would need to be developed and presented in a GCN 
Mitigation Method Statement following the updated surveys and impact assessment and 
that a Natural England European Protected Species licence would be required.  
 
The Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) calculation included in the Ecological Assessment 
identifies that there would be a +28.47% increase in biodiversity units and a +40.15% 
increase in hedgerow units. This is considered acceptable. 
 
In terms of off site ecological impacts, Natural England has been consulted on the 
application and consider that the proposed development will not have significant  
adverse impacts on designated sites and has no objection. 
 
Overall, and subject to the imposition of conditions to secure ecological mitigation 
strategies, it is considered that the proposed development is acceptable in terms of 
ecological and biodiversity matters and is in accordance with development plan policies 
and the NPPF 
 
  
Arboricultural Impacts 
 
Paragraph 136 of the NPPF states that trees make an important contribution to the 
character and quality of urban environment  and can also mitigate and adapt to climate 
change.   
 
Policy INF3 of the JCS states that existing green infrastructure will be protected in a 
manner that reflects its contribution to ecosystem services including biodiversity, 
landscape/townscape quality and the connectivity of the green infrastructure network.  
Development proposals that will have an impact on hedges and trees need to include a 
justification for why this impact cannot be avoided and should incorporate measures 
acceptable to the Local Planning Authority to mitigate the loss. 
 
The planning application is supported by a Tree Survey, Impact Assessment and 
Protection Plan.  The principal group of trees within the application site comprises a 
mature woodland in the south west corner.  The woodland area has been categorised as 
B2 for it’s quality but within this area there are some Category A specimens.  There are 
also some other notable tree groups throughout the site. 
 
The proposed masterplan shows a form of development which shows the retention of the 
principal trees and woodland within the site boundary and the Council’s Tree Officer has 
been consulted on the application and raises no objection to the layout of the proposed 
housing and open space as shown in the Concept Masterplan subject to the imposition of 
appropriate planning conditions to protect the retained trees and woodlands.   
 
The Council have also, in exercise of the powers conferred on them by section 198 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990, made a Tree Preservation Order (No.421) to 
protect the woodland within around the site, including two individual Oak Trees at the 
existing entrance to the site. 
 
Tree Preservation Order 421 also includes an area of woodland in the location of the 
proposed new site access off the A38, which partially lies outside of the application site.  
This area of woodland was not surveyed in the Tree Survey/Impact Assessment 

51



 
 
 
 
 
9.131 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.132 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.133 
 
 
 
 
9.134 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.135 
 
 
 
 
9.136 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.137 
 
 
 
 
9.138 
 

submitted in support of the application, and whilst access is a reserved matter, it is 
inevitable that the proposed access and associated visibility splays would necessitate the 
removal of trees within this area of woodland adjacent to the A38 which is subject to the 
protect via the Tree Preservation Order. 
 
Officers are continuing to liaise with the Council’s Tree Officer, the County Highways 
Authority and the applicant in respect to the likely impacts of the proposed access on this 
area of woodland which is protected by a TPO.  Officers will be provide an update on 
this position at the Planning Committee and advise whether Officers consider that the 
impact on these protected trees, gives rise to a ‘putative reason to refusal’. 
 
 
Loss of Agricultural Land and Soils 
 
The NPPF sets out that planning decisions should contribute to and enhance the  
natural environment by, inter alia, recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of  
the countryside, and the wider benefits from natural capital and ecosystem services  
– including the economic and other benefits of the best and most versatile  
agricultural land. This aims to protect the best and most versatile (BMV) agricultural  
land and soils in England from significant, inappropriate and unsustainable  
development proposals. 
 
The Agricultural Land Classification (ALC) assesses the quality of farmland to  
enable informed choices to be made about its future use within the planning  
system. There are five grades of agricultural land, with Grade 3 subdivided into 3a  
and 3b. The best and most versatile land is defined as Grades 1, 2 and 3a. 
 
The site has an overall grading of 3 and the Council are seeking to confirm the exact 
grade of the land with the applicant.  The loss of agricultural land is a matter which 
counts against the proposal in the planning balance and the extent of harm is dependent 
on the grade of the agricultural land. 
 
Archaeology 
 
Paragraph 200 of the NPPF states that where a site on which development is proposed 
includes, or has the potential to include, heritage assets with archaeological interest, 
local planning authorities should require developers to submit an appropriate desk-based 
assessment and, where necessary, a field evaluation. 
 
The County Archaeologist has been consulted on the application and advises that the 
proposed development area has been checked against the Gloucestershire Historic 
Environment Record, and the area was thought to be of potential archaeological interest 
due to its location and known archaeology nearby, and therefore a geophysical survey 
and trial trenching were undertaken in 2015, in relation to previous development 
proposals, with largely negative results.  
 
As such the County Archaeologist advises that there is a low risk that archaeological 
remains will be adversely affected by this development proposal and it is recommend that 
no archaeological investigation or recording need be undertaken in connection with this 
scheme. 
 
In light of this, the application is considered acceptable in regard to archaeology. 
 

52



 
 
9.139 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.140 
 
 
 
 
 
9.141 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.142 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.143 
 
 
 
 
9.144 
 
 
 
9.145 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Mineral Resource Safeguarding 
 
Policy MS01 of the Minerals Local Plan for Gloucestershire states that development 
proposals within a Mineral Safeguarded Area (MSA) will be permitted provided: that i. 
they are exempt from safeguarding requirements, or ii. needless sterilisation of mineral 
resources will not occur; or iii. the mineral resources of concern are not economically 
valuable; or iv. it is appropriate and practicable to extract minerals prior to development 
taking place; or v. the overriding need for development outweighs the desirability to 
safeguard mineral resources. 
 
The Gloucestershire Minerals and Waste Authority have been consulted on the 
application and advise that the application site lies within an area where ‘Sand and 
Gravel’ is named safeguarded mineral resource.  As such the Minerals Authority 
requested a full Minerals Resource Assessment be undertaken prior to the determination 
of the application. 
 
An Assessment was subsequently provided by the applicant and the Minerals Authority 
advised that the level of detail contained within the report is a broad level desk exercise 
and is designed to dismiss the potential of prior extraction without fully exploring the 
options. They advise that it relies upon geological maps and does not include any 
physical information relating to ground survey work that the operator might have 
undertaken as part of the preparatory work for house building.   They also advise that 
the Report dismisses the notion of prior extraction based upon broad assumptions of 
mineral working without any mitigation measures put into place and the Report does not 
make reference to anything other than prior extraction, such as whether mineral 
underlying the site could be incorporated into the development project thereby saving 
expense and carbon emissions on importing aggregates into the site. 
 
In conclusion the Minerals Authority advise that they are disappointed with the content of 
the Report and there is a potential harm arising from the development as they do not 
know the extent of any mineral sterilisation that could occur, albeit it is recognised it may 
be minimal. The Minerals Authority advise that it is a matter for the case officer to 
determine whether they are satisfied that sufficient information has been supplied or if 
further details are required.   
 
Open Space, Outdoor Recreation and Sports Facilities 
 
The NPPF sets out that planning decisions should aim to achieve healthy inclusive and 
safe communities including promoting social interaction and creating healthy, inclusive 
communities. Planning decisions should enable and support healthy lifestyles including 
through the provision of safe and accessible green infrastructure and sports facilities. 
 
JCS Policy INF4 provides where new residential will create or add to, a need for 
community facilities, it will be fully met as on site provision and/or as a contribution to 
facilities or services off-site. JCS Policies INF6 and INF7 support this requirement.  
 
Policy RCN1 of the TBP requires that new development shall provide appropriate public 
open space, sports pitches and built sports facilities to meet the needs of local 
communities and that provision should be informed by the most up to date evidence 
base. 
 
 
 

53



9.146 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.147 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.148 
 
 
 
 
9.149 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.150 
 
 
 
 
9.151 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The proposed site layout as shown in the Concept Masterplan and in the Design and 
Access Statement incorporates informal open space, an ‘informal kickabout area’, 
retention of woodland and connecting pathways.  Formal play space is also proposed in 
the form of a LEAP and a LAP. The on-site formal and informal open space provision, as 
indicated in the application submission, is considered acceptable and can be secured by 
s106 agreements, reserved matters applications and planning conditions. 
 
In terms of off-site provision, the Council’s Communities Team have been consulted on 
the application and request the following contributions: 
 
- £55,000 playing pitches 
- £150,000 changing room costs 
- £75,027 Community Centres contribution - Watson Hall, Tewkesbury 
- Artificial Grass Pitch £11,753 - Tewkesbury Sports Centre 
- Indoor Bowls £3,124 - indoor bowls equipment for community centre usage 
- Sports Hall £77,560 - Tewkesbury Sports Centre 
- Swimming Pool £86,146 - Tewkesbury Leisure Centre 
 
There is currently no signed agreement to secure these contribution requests, but they 
are capable of being resolved through the signing of an appropriate planning obligation. 
 
Education, Library and Community Provision 
 
JCS Policy INF6 relates directly to infrastructure delivery and states that any 
infrastructure requirements generated as a result of individual site proposals and/or 
having regard to the cumulative impacts, should be served and supported by adequate 
and appropriate on/off-site infrastructure and services. The Local Planning Authority will 
seek to secure appropriate infrastructure, which is necessary, directly related, and fairly 
and reasonably related to the scale and kind of the development proposal. Policy INF4 of 
the JCS requires appropriate social and community infrastructure to be delivered where 
development creates a need for it. JCS Policy INF7 states the arrangements for direct 
implementation or financial contributions towards the provision of infrastructure and 
services should be negotiated with developers before the grant of planning permission. 
Policy SA1 sets out that infrastructure should be provided comprehensively across the 
site taking into account the needs of the whole Strategic Allocation. Financial 
contributions will be sought through S106 and CIL mechanisms as appropriate. 
 
Gloucestershire County Council as Local Education Authority (LEA) has been consulted 
on the application and advise that that there are sufficient school places in the primary 
planning area to accommodate this development and no primary or secondary education 
contributions are sought. 
 
In terms of libraries, Gloucestershire County Council have advised that the scheme 
would generate a need to improving customer access to services through refurbishment 
and upgrades, improvements to stock, IT and digital technology and increased services 
at Tewkesbury Library. As such a contribution of £32,340 is requested to make the 
application acceptable in planning terms 
 
 
 
 
 
 

54



 
 
9.152 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.153 
 
 
 
 
 
9.154 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.155 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Section 106 obligations 
 
The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations allow local authorities to raise 
funds from developers undertaking new building projects in their area. Whilst the Council 
does have a CIL in place, infrastructure requirements specifically related to the impact of 
the development will continue to be secured via a Section 106 legal agreement. The CIL 
regulations stipulate that, where planning obligations do not meet the tests, it is ‘unlawful’ 
for those obligations to be taken into account when determining an application. 
 
These tests are as follows: 
 
a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms. 
b) directly related to the development; and 
c) fairly and reasonable related in scale and kind to the development. 
 
JCS Policy INF6 relates directly to infrastructure delivery and states that any 
infrastructure requirements generated as a result of individual site proposals and/or 
having regard to the cumulative impacts, should be served and supported by adequate 
and appropriate on/off-site infrastructure and services. The Local Planning Authority will 
seek to secure appropriate infrastructure which is necessary, directly related, and fairly 
and reasonably related to the scale and kind of the development proposal. Policy INF4 of 
the JCS requires appropriate social and community infrastructure to be delivered where 
development creates a need for it. JCS Policy INF7 states the arrangements for direct 
implementation or financial contributions towards the provision of infrastructure and 
services should be negotiated with developers before the grant of planning permission. 
Financial contributions will be sought through S106 and CIL mechanisms as appropriate. 
 
Requests have been made by consultees to secure the following contributions: 
 
- 40% affordable housing and the mix specified in this Report  
- £55,000 playing pitches 
-£150,000 changing room costs 
-£75,027 Community Centres contribution - Watson Hall, Tewkesbury 
-Artificial Grass Pitch £11,753 - Tewkesbury Sports Centre 
-Indoor Bowls £3,124 - indoor bowls equipment for community centre usage 
-Sports Hall £77,560 - Tewkesbury Sports Centre 
-Swimming Pool £86,146 - Tewkesbury Leisure Centre 
- A contribution of £73 per dwelling towards recycling and waste bin facilities is also 
required. 
- Provision on an on-site LEAP and LAP 
- A contribution of £32,340 to Tewkesbury Library 
- £54,790 Travel Plan Contribution 
- £5,000 Travel Plan Monitoring fee 
- £133,650 towards public transport improvement 
-£15,000 Traffic Regulation Order Contribution  
 

9.156 There is currently no signed agreement to secure these contribution requests, but they 
are capable of being resolved through the signing of an appropriate planning obligation 
and legal agreement. 
 
 
 
 

55



10. Conclusion 

  
10.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
10.2 
 
 
 
 
 
10.3 
 
 
 
 
 
10.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
10.5 
 
 
 
 
10.6 
 
 
 
 
 
10.7 
 
 
 
 
10.8 
 
 
 
 
 
10.9 
 
 

Section 38(6) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that, if regard is to be 
had to the development plan, the determination must be made in accordance with the 
development plan unless other material circumstances indicate otherwise. Section 70(2) 
of the Act provides that the Local Planning Authority shall have regard to the provisions 
of the development plan, so far as material to the application, and to any other material 
considerations. 
 
The application site is not allocated for housing development and does not meet any of 
the exceptions of Policy SD10 of the JCS or Policy RES3 of the TBLP.  The application 
therefore conflicts with Policy SP2 and SD10 of the JCS and Policy RES3 of the TBLP 
and the conflict with these adopted development plan policies is the starting point for 
decision making.   
 
However, on the basis that the Council cannot at this time demonstrate a five-year supply 
of deliverable housing sites, having a significant shortfall at 3.24 years of deliverable 
supply, the most important policies for determining the application are deemed to be out 
of date and less weight can be given to them. Paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF therefore 
applies. 
 
Paragraph 11 of the NPPF, the presumption in favour of sustainable development 
indicates that permission should be granted unless policies for protecting areas or assets 
of particular importance in the NPPF provide a clear reason for refusing the development 
proposed, or any adverse impacts of permitting the development would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF as 
a whole.  
 
Footnote 7 of the NPPF confirms that policies in the Framework that protect areas or 
assets of particular importance include designated heritage assets. 
 
Heritage Harm 
 
The proposal would result in harm to the significance of designated heritage assets 
through development in their setting. Notwithstanding that the level of harm would be 
considered “less than substantial” in the terms set out in the NPPF, this does not mean 
that the harm would be unimportant. The NPPF requires that great weight should be 
given to the conservation of designated heritage assets.  
 
The public benefits of the proposal relate to, amongst others, the delivery of up to 165 
dwellings houses, new pedestrian and cycle links, new public open space, new 
construction jobs, increased economically active population, and the associated social 
and economic benefits, bio-diversity net gain and tree planting. 
 
Officers do not consider that the public benefits would outweigh the identified harm to 
designated heritage assets. As such, the proposal would conflict with Policy SD8 of the 
JCS and Policies HER1 and HER2 of the TBLP and those policies of the NPPF relating 
to the historic environment and designated heritage assets as defined in Annex 2 of the 
Framework. 
 
This is considered a clear reason to refuse the application in accordance with paragraph 
11di and footnote 7 of the NPPF. The tilted balance is therefore not engaged.  
 

56



 
 
10.10 
 
10.11 
 
 
 
 
 
10.12 
 
 
 
10.13 
 
 
10.14 
 
 
 
 
 
 
10.15 
 
 
 
10.16 
 
 
 
 
 
 
10.17 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
10.18 
 
 
 
10.19 
 
 
 
 

Benefits 
 
The application would give rise to a number of benefits. 
 
The development would contribute towards the supply of housing, both market and 
affordable housing to help meet the need for housing in the Borough in an area. The 
provision of affordable housing and particularly the provision of social rent units of a 
larger size is considered to be a significant benefit of the proposals to be weighed in the 
planning balance. 
 
Further economic benefits that would arise from the proposal both during and post 
construction, including the economic benefits arising from additional residents, supporting 
local businesses. 
 
The provision of new cycle route and pedestrian access along the A38 is also a benefit of 
the proposal as well as securing biodiversity net gain and the proposed tree planting 
 
There are also benefits arising directly from the proposals including the provision of a 
LEAP/LAP, publicly accessible open space and off-site planning obligations.  Given that 
these benefits are directly related to the development, to make the proposal acceptable 
in planning terms, officers afford these benefits limited weight. 
 
Harms 
 
Harm arises from the conflict with development plan policies and the spatial strategy 
relating to housing, particularly Policies SP2 and SD10 of the JCS and Policy RES3 of 
the TBLP. 
 
Harm also arises as the proposal fails to protect or conserve a Valued Landscape 
contrary to paragraph 180a of the NPPF and that the landscape harms arising from the 
proposed development also give rise to a conflict with policies SD4 and SD6 of the JCS 
and Policy LAN2 of the TBLP. Overall the proposed development and associated work 
would result in substantial landscape harm which weighs substantially against the 
development in the planning balance. 
 
The proposed development will give rise to a high degree of less than substantial harm to 
the setting of The Mythe and Uplands (all Grade II Listed). The Coach House to The 
Mythe (Grade II Listed) would experience a moderate degree of less than substantial 
harm to its setting and Mythe Farm. Views into and out of Tewkesbury Town 
Conservation Area and the approach to the town would also experience a moderate 
degree of less than substantial harm.  As such the proposal is contrary to Sections 66(1) 
and 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act and contrary to 
policies SD8 of the JCS and policies HER1 and HER2 of the TBLP. 
 
The proposal would also give rise to a low degree of harm to Mythe Farm and Mythe End 
non-designated heritage assets. The identified harm give rise to a conflict with Policy 
SD8 of the JCS and Policy HER5 of the TBLP. 
 
The proposal would also result in the loss of agricultural land.  Officers are seeking to 
clarify the BMV categorisation of the land.  However, notwithstanding the BMV 
categorisation, the  loss of agricultural land is harm arising from the proposal. 
 
 

57



10.20 
 
 
10.21 
 
 
 
 
 
 
10.22 
 
 
10.23 
 
 
10.24 
 
 
 
 
 
 
10.25 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
10.26 
 
 
 
 
 
 
10.27 
 
 
 
 
 
 
10.28 
 
 

A further harm is also identified as indications are that the proposal will result in the loss 
of ‘Sand and Gravel’ which is a named safeguarded mineral resource.   
 
At this stage there is no signed S106 Agreement to secure affordable housing; nor is 
there a signed Agreement to provide for financial contributions required towards libraries, 
off-site recreational facilities, recycling facilities, or transport mitigation measures. Albeit 
these matters are capable of being resolved in terms of the planning balance 
 
Unresolved Harms 
 
This officer report has also identified potential harms arising from the loss of trees which 
are protected by a Group TPO at the location of the proposed vehicular entrance.  
 
Severn Trent also currently objects to this application due to concerns regarding the 
potential risk of flooding and pollution.  
 
Officers are continuing to liaise with consultees regarding these unresolved harms and 
an update will be provided at Committee.  These harms may give rise to additional 
putative reasons for refusal. 
 
 
Neutral 
 
It has been established through the submission documents that subject to securing 
satisfactory measures as part of any future reserved matters, and the imposition of 
appropriate planning conditions, the development would not give rise to unacceptable 
impacts in terms of, design and layout, highway safety, ecology, residential amenity and 
archaeology. 
 
Overall Conclusion 
 
As the Council cannot demonstrate a 5-year housing land supply as such the approach 
to decision making, the ‘tilted balance’ set out in paragraph 11 of the Framework would 
be engaged as a starting point. However, this is a case where the policies of the 
Framework relating to Designated Heritage Assets provide clear reasons for refusing the 
proposal. It would therefore follow that paragraph 11 of the Framework would not weigh 
in favour of the proposal.  
 
Having regard to paragraph 11(d)(i) of the NPPF and having applied the policies in the 
NPPF that protect areas or assets of particular importance, there is a clear reason for 
refusing the development. The ‘tilted balance’ is not therefore engaged. However, even if 
paragraph 11(d)(i) was considered not to apply in this instance, it has been demonstrated 
that the adverse impacts of granting planning permission would significantly outweigh the 
benefits, in accordance with paragraph 11(d)(ii). 
 
For the above reasons, the proposal would not accord with the development plan when 
considered as a whole and, having regard to all material considerations including the 
NPPF, there are clear reasons for refusing the development proposed, and as such it 
would not constitute sustainable development and is therefore recommended for refusal. 

  
 
 
 

58



11. Recommendation 

  
11.1 In view of the foregoing report and in the context of the current appeal. Members are 

requested to consider a recommendation of Minded to Refuse which, along with this 
report, will be submitted to the Planning Inspectorate to inform the Appeal. 

  
12. Reasons for Refusal 

  
1 
 
 
 
 
 
2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4 
 
 
 
 
 
5 
 
 
 
 
 

The proposed development conflicts with Policies SP2 and SD10 of the Gloucester, 
Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy 2011-2031and Policy RES3 of the 
Tewkesbury Borough Plan 2011-2031 in that the proposed development does not meet 
the strategy for the distribution of new development in Tewkesbury Borough and the 
application site is not an appropriate location for new residential development. 
 
The application site lies within the setting of The Mythe (Grade II listed), The Mythe 
Coachouse (Grade II Listed), Uplands (Grade II Listed) and Tewkesbury Conservation 
Area designated heritage assets. The proposals would have an unacceptable harmful 
impact on the setting of these designated heritage assets. As such, the proposed works 
are considered not to sustain or enhance the designated heritage assets and would 
cause harm to the significance of the affected designated heritage assets. In weighing 
this harm against the public benefits of the proposal, through the provision of housing 
and other public benefits, the public benefits of the proposals are not considered to 
outweigh the harm caused to the significance of the affected heritage assets. The 
proposed development is therefore contrary to Sections 66(1) and 72(1) of the Planning 
(Listed Building and Conservation Area) Act 1990, Policy SD8 of the Gloucester, 
Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy 2011-2031, Policies HER1 and HER2 
of the Tewkesbury Borough Plan 2011-2031 and Chapter 16 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 
 
Whilst all matters relating to design, layout and landscaping are reserved for future 
consideration, the proposal would result in a conspicuous and severely harmful 
encroachment into open countryside.  The development would be conspicuous in views 
from the south and east and in prolonged views from the Avon Way and River Avon itself 
on the approaches to the town. The effects at night would be particularly pronounced and 
the effects would be exacerbated by the fact that the development is physically separated 
from the town.  The proposed development would also have a harmful impact upon the 
character and appearance of a Valued Landscape.  As such, the proposal conflicts with 
Policies SD4 and SD6 of the Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core 
Strategy 2011-2031, policies RES5 and LAN2 of the Tewkesbury Borough Plan 2011-
2031 and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
In the absence of an appropriate planning obligation, the application does not provide 
housing that would be available to households who cannot afford to rent or buy houses 
available on the existing housing market. As such, the proposed development 
conflicts with Policy SD11 and Policy SD12 of the Gloucester, Cheltenham and 
Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy 2011-2031 and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
In the absence of a completed planning obligation the proposed development does not 
adequately provide for community, outdoor recreation and sports facilities, and refuse 
and recycling facilities and conflicts with Policies INF4, INF6 and INF7 of the Gloucester, 
Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy 2011 - 2031 and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 
 

59



6 
 
 
 
 
 
7 

In the absence of a completed planning obligation to secure a library contribution, the 
development fails to provide appropriate provisions towards libraries infrastructure. This 
is contrary to Policies INF4, INF6 and INF7 of the Gloucester, Cheltenham and 
Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy 2011-2031, the Gloucestershire County Council’s 
Library Strategy 2012 and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
In the absence of completed planning obligations to secure improvements to public 
transport, and highway improvement measures, the development proposals would fail to 
provide safe and suitable access and the site could not be considered sustainable.  This 
is contrary to the provisions of Policy INF1 of the Joint Core Strategy 2011-2031 and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

  
12. Informatives 

  
1 In accordance with the requirements of the NPPF the Local Planning Authority has 

sought to determine the application in a positive and proactive manner by offering pre-
application advice, publishing guidance to assist the applicant, and publishing the to the 
Council’s website relevant information received during the consideration of the 
application thus enabling the applicant to be kept informed as to how the case was 
proceeding. 

 

60



61



62



PLANNING APPEALS RECEIVED (04/12/2023 – 05/01/2024) 

Appeal 
Start Date 

TBC Planning 
Number 

Inspectorate Number Proposal Site Address Appeal Procedure 

13-Dec-23 22/00975/OUT APP/G1630/W/23/3330290 
Outline application with all matters reserved for 3no. 

dwellings 

Part Parcel 0862 
Tewkesbury Road 

Twigworth 

Written Representation 
 

18-Dec-23 23/00503/FUL APP/G1630/W/23/3330707 Erection of a 5 bedroom detached house 
Beauchamp Cottage 

Churcham 
Written Representation 

04-Jan-23 22/00524/FUL APP/G1630/W/23/3330860 
Erection of 1No. self-build dwelling and associated 

parking and landscaping. 

Land Off 
Olde Lane 

Toddington 

Written Representation 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

63

A
genda Item

 6



 

PLANNING APPEALS DECIDED (04/12/2023 – 05/01/2024) 

Appeal 
Decision 

Date 
Appeal Decision 

TBC Planning 
Number 

Inspectorate Number Proposal Site Address 

11-Dec-23 
Appeal allowed 

planning permitted 
21/01392/OUT APP/G1630/W/22/3312539 

Outline planning permission for the erection of 
up to 95 dwellings and up to 3ha of commercial 
space associated with the expansion of Highnam 

Business Centre as well as associated 
infrastructure with all matters reserved except 

for access. 

Land North And South Of  
Newent Road 

Highnam 

12-Dec-23 
Appeal allowed 

planning permitted 
 

22/01320/OUT APP/G1630/W/23/3324253 

Residential Development (up to 120 dwellings), 
associated works including infrastructure, open 
space and landscaping. Vehicular access from 

Fiddington Lane. 

Parcel 5558 
Road From Natton To 

Homedowns 
Ashchurch 

13-Dec-23 
Appeal allowed 

planning permitted 
 

22/00134/FUL APP/G1630/D/23/3322213 
Erection of single storey rear extension to annex 

building (Retrospective). 

Toddington Grange  
Burberry Hill 
Toddington 

 

 

64


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	5a 22/00610/OUT - Part Parcel 2352, Mythe Road, Tewkesbury
	22.00610.OUT - Part Parcel 2352 Mythe Road - Plans

	6 Current Appeals and Appeal Decisions Update

